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Tuesday, October 9, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in EB-2017-0182, 0194, and 0364.
Procedural Matters:


Before we continue with cross-examination of this panel, I would like to discuss the draft hearing agenda that was sent out on Friday.

You will note that there has been an addition.  The panel will be calling witnesses from MOECP, and we did want to alert you to that on Friday, just so you had time to think about it over the weekend.

People will recall that MOECP filed evidence in this matter.  They had witnesses at the technical conference and did make an offer to appear before us in the event that we had questions.

In reviewing the evidence and having our preliminary discussions, this evidence with respect to the environmental assessment is an important part of the applications that we're hearing, and the Panel feels that we would benefit from asking some of our questions to those witnesses directly.

So the way that we propose to proceed is that Board Staff would take the lead in asking questions of the witnesses.  I can say that they are going to be the same witnesses that appeared at the technical panel -- technical conference, rather -- that is, Mr. Evers and Ms. Cross -- and that we would then follow by having the applicants have the ability to ask questions and then, in the time remaining, we would have other intervenors who had questions pose those to the witnesses.

So we've scheduled about two-and-a-half hours.  We're hoping that we will be able to get that all done on Friday afternoon.

Does anyone want to raise anything in respect of that?  No?  Okay.  Then that is how we will plan to proceed with Friday afternoon.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, with apologies for introducing a personal matter, I wonder if at some point we could address the question of the argument schedule, as I had advised the Board in a letter I had a long-term commitment to be at a conference in Alabama, of all places, towards the end of next week, which I may well have to cancel depending on the argument schedule.

I would ask for an extension of a day or so for the filing of our argument, but if at some point we could address that issue so that I can cancel the plans and make the necessary arrangements, if that is required.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, we will consider that as a Panel.  I would ask perhaps if you would discuss with perhaps your co-counsel if there is anything that you can do.

We are constrained with respect to the schedule that we have, and I know moving things by a day or two doesn't seem like it is a big deal, but then it is an extension for other people, and suddenly it is three days, and we have booked time to meet as a Panel before we go off and work on other cases.

So we will have a discussion about it, but Mr. Warren, perhaps if you could have a discussion to see if anything is possible to keep on track for that day.  That would certainly be our preference.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  With that being said, I believe, Mr. Garner, you are up first.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, are there other preliminary issues?  I didn't ask you, Mr. Cass.

MR. WARREN:  -- on October 3rd there were questions that were put to Ms. Croll and Mr. Spencer with respect to, broadly speaking, alternatives to, on EA matters, whether we're going around the park, and if not what the costs would be, and we indicated that Ms. Croll would be back today --


MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  -- and Ms. Cooper would be back today, and I am in your hands as to when you want those issues dealt with.  Now?  Or after the -- at the conclusion of the cross-examination?

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Ms. Cooper, are you here for the day?

MS. COOPER:  I am here for the day.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then I prefer to start with Mr. Garner, and then we will either deal with that after Board Staff or prior to Board Staff.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, one further preliminary matter if I can.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to an undertaking that we had requested on Thursday, you were going to take that under advisement.  I am just wondering if there is any update --


MS. LONG:  We did consider that, and we don't feel that the undertaking is necessary.  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Christine Goulais,

Elisa Croll,

Andrew Spencer,

Sanjib Karunakaran,

Robert Reinmuller,

Angel Pinto,

Aaron Fair; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel, and welcome back.

I have questions in three areas.  I will try to be brief.  I am well aware of my 30 minutes allotted to me.  I am going to talk about the station schedules, the park outage, and a little bit about the rate impacts, just to give you an idea.

So let's start with the station schedules.  And my first question is, of the three stations, Lakehead, is Lakehead currently on schedule?

MR. REINMULLER:  Good morning.  Can you hear me?

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I can.

MR. REINMULLER:  Lakehead, currently, because the EA is on hold for the Lake Superior project, and the permits are on hold for the station work, there's no work proceeding on Lakehead or Marathon.

MR. GARNER:  And why is that?  Lakehead, as I understood it, has no EA approvals necessary.  It is totally a Hydro One property development, isn't it?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  So why is it --


MR. REINMULLER:  However, they need some permits for drainage and some other civil work.  And those are not being issued at the moment.

MR. GARNER:  Are you telling me that the -- I would suggest relatively minor permits with drainage, et cetera, for Lakehead are being withheld for the -- by some authority for the larger issues around the Wawa and Marathon stations?

MR. REINMULLER:  I guess Ms. Croll could correct me if I am wrong, but that is my understanding, that there is no permits being issued for any of the three stations.

MR. GARNER:  Ms. Croll?

MS. CROLL:  Good morning.  I would have to check back with the Staff on that.  I am not sure of the status of Lakehead specifically.  I do know, for Marathon and Wawa, that is the case.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Before I pursue that maybe the next step is, if you -- and again, it's just for your -- to help us along.  My tab 2 I have extracted a page which indicates what I think is the nature of the work at each one of the three stations.  And it's got connecting lines.  It's got shunt reactors at Marathon and Lakehead, capacity banks at Lakehead, and bus work at the stations.

And what I was looking for when I went through the evidence of the application, which is to do with the stations, was a comprehensive schedule for each one of the stations, and the only thing I could find -- and if I have missed it perhaps you could tell me -- is what I have at tab 4, and there is a table at tab 4 that is called transformer station project schedule.  That was the most detailed schedule I could find with respect to, I thought it was Marathon.  It wasn't quite clear to me if it was more than one station or if it is simply Marathon.  But I think it is only Marathon.

MR. REINMULLER:  You are correct.  That is the schedule for the Marathon.

MR. GARNER:  Is there a similar schedule in the evidence for each one of the other stations, Wawa and Lakehead?

MR. REINMULLER:  There is one being revised at the moment because of all of the delays that have happened.  So there is a schedule for each station, but it is currently under revision.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I know you are reticent to take undertakings, but it seems to me it is important, given the Hydro One's evidence that the entire project is now going to be delayed because of station work, that we have the most up-to-date schedules for each one of the three stations, Lakehead, Wawa, and Marathon, in order to understand what's being delayed and why.

So I would ask that the panel undertake to provide a new schedule for each one of the stations in the detail form that is shown on this schedule for those.

MS. LONG:  How long is it going to take you to provide that schedule?  Those schedules, I guess?

MR. REINMULLER:  Probably at least a week, I would say.

MS. LONG:  Is it possible to have it done by the end of this week?

MR. REINMULLER:  We can try.

MS. CROLL:  There is an updated schedule for Marathon in one of the responses that was provided.

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.  We have to do --


MS. CROLL:  You are updating that one?  Okay.

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  I will allow that undertaking, but I would like you to make best efforts to the extent that you can, just in case we have any questions, that we might be able to pose them to you once we're able to see those on Friday.  But I realize you are busy on the stand here, but if you can try and get that by Friday it would be most appreciated.

MR. REINMULLER:  Will do.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be marked as an Undertaking J4.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE UPDATED CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES FOR MARATHON, LAKEHEAD AND WAWA.

MR. MURRAY:  Before we move on perhaps we should also mark VECC's compendium as an exhibit, and that will be marked as K4.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, we don't have those schedules, but I would like to take a look at the one we're looking at for Marathon, and we're talking about delays in that station.  And when I look at that schedule and the timelines on it, one of the things I would like to ask you is the time-critical points for doing the station, it would seem to me vis-a-vis that the winter is coming, is putting in footings and that sort of work because it can't be done in mid-winter, is that right?

MR. REINMULLER:  That's partially right.  But the major change on the schedule that you are looking at is the clearing, and I will point you to item number 3 on that list, relocate shack to lake trail, which was scheduled for the summer.

At this point when this schedule was developed, we have not been made aware of issues with bats and as a result of the indication that came from the Ministry of Environment, this schedule had to be moved to between September 15th and November 30th.

So the clearing specifically at Marathon and Wawa cannot be started before September 15th, ending November 30th.

Therefore, this whole schedule had to be moved to allow for that work to happen next year.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Let me ask you a question about the footings that occur between October 22nd and August of 2019.

That is a fairly large window for footings.  Why is that?

MR. REINMULLER:  So basically between -- depending on the weather between December or maybe early January to the end of February, there is no concrete work allowed.

There could be concrete work done, but you would have to go to the extent to get blankets and heating and propane to heat the concrete.

So the work that they can undertake in the winter is steel work.  Once the footings are set, they can set up steel beams and start constructing the station.  But basically, any of the concrete work, foundations, footings for the station equipment cannot be done in the winter months.

MR. GARNER:  Or as you have said, it can done in the winter months, it is just a more expensive exercise because you have to basically protect the poured concrete.

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.  So they would have to employ propane heating, blankets, and construct all kind of shacks to make sure the concrete will set properly.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.  And also what I notice in that, though, is the large number of -- the length of simply the window.  It goes from October all the way to August.  So in the spring you can, you can again pour your footings.

What prohibits you or what inhibits you from employing larger crews to put the footings in in the spring, but put more of them in in the window that you have until August?  What stops that from happening?

MR. REINMULLER:  So what happens, the initial schedule, there was about 28 to 29 months was optimized based on people coming and doing things in sequence:   clearing, levelling the field, digging, pouring concrete, constructing steel, installing equipment, testing.  So everything was set in the proper order.

With the new schedule, things getting out of order with clearing scheduled for next year, they will do portions of work where they can.

So in areas that they can get into the station before they clear outside of the station, they will start doing some footings.  They will start digging some of the concrete cable trays.

So the crews will be jumping from one activity to another out of sequence.  So that is why there is a larger window.  And that schedule being showed for almost a year doesn't mean that they do -- they pour concrete all that time frame.  They are jumping between activities.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So that would suggest to me that again, with sufficient resources, people and planning and other things, one could advance the schedule, but it would be difficult.  You would have to have more people put into the job, and you would have to put more money into the job.

MR. REINMULLER:  So that is one discussion we had with the project manager, to crash the schedule by even a couple of months will mean doubling crews.

With doubling crews, there is another issue that starts to surface, because as you imagine in the station, there is line work to deal with the termination of the lines and bringing the lines inside the station.  There's station work.  There's civil work.

Once some footings are ready, there's construction work, installing the beams, starting to install equipment.

So you start adding too many people in the yard, some doing excavation, some doing already installation, you have a safety issue, too.

So the current schedule was adjusted to make sure that nobody is tripping over anybody.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Is SNC-Lavalin doing this work also, or is this separate contracted work?

MR. REINMULLER:  This is separate work.  Some of it is being done by our stations folks, and some relay buildings will be contracted out.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I would like to move on to the outage in the park, and the work that is going to be done if you go through the park and the timing on that.

And the extract from your evidence that I looked at I believe is at tab 5.  Really, I was just looking at your own evidence which was -- if you look at page 4 of 5, which is what I have highlighted in there, and you look at the bottom highlighting, if an outage in 2020 becomes necessary and extension becomes necessary, due to unexpected interruptions not permitted, you basically have to come back, as I understand, the next year, is that right, to do it?

So if you can't get the work done within the outage period you have been allowed as extended, as maybe necessary perhaps even, you would have to reorganize the work to come back and finish it.  Is that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  So I think that reference -- there's two major milestones to keep in mind.  There is August 2020, when they're going to install the four circuit towers in Pukaskwa Park, and then the next year when they come back to string the line on the two new circuits.  Correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is a single circuit outage.  So with respect to the double circuit outage in the section that you have highlighted there, if you look at the question that was posed, the question was asking whether we had taken into account potential weather-related delays.

So the straight answer to that is yes, weather delays have been factored into the productivity rates that we have been looking at.

The second part of the question went into what mitigation plans were there that Hydro One would have to correct for these weather-related delays to ensure that we remain on schedule.

And so what we had spoken to in the two bullet points there was what's the ability within the construction methodology to have a fair amount of the work done in advance of the outage with the installations, the foundations, and the guyed wires and so on, as outlined in the first bullet point.

And then, with respect to the second bullet point in Particular, was addressing the aspect of if you do reach a certain break position whereby even accounting for certain weather-related delays within the productivity that we have assumed, if you extend beyond the period of when the line is actually available for the double circuit outage, what do you have to do at that point.

Well, at that point, if you can't extend the schedule any further or the outage window any further, we would look to reschedule for those activities to occur at a similar time in the following year when the line would be available again.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay, thank you.  It seems to me this part of my question may be my confusion as to how the work was being done.

So can I -- can you correct me as I say it back to you?  It's that in the summer of 2020, August 2020, the idea is to -- after having installed the proper footings et cetera, is to fly in and drop all of the towers in with the existing circuits still live.  Is that the idea?  Or it is out while you are putting the towers in?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.  The circuits would be out whilst we're actually installing the towers.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But then you are coming back the subsequent year to put circuits on those towers, is that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay, let me walk you through it.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The idea is you take the double circuit outage and you go in and install the actual structures on the new foundations.

You transfer the conductor from the existing towers across to the new towers, and that reinstates at the end of that outage the existing East-West Tie connection, albeit on the new quad towers.

In the following year, in 2021, you would come along and take single-circuit outages in order to install circuits 3 and 4, for lack of better terms, to complete off the stringing activities for the new project.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And do you take the old towers out eventually, or...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.  That is done as part of the -- whilst you're doing the double-circuit outage.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And so you have a two-week period, and as I understand it you have 87 towers that are, I guess, partially assembled, because they're assembled also when they're flown in?  Or are they fully assembled on flying in?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.  They're partially assembled.

So I think we mentioned in the work methodology for the -- that it is a two-lift scenario in order to install the quad circuit towers.  I believe we said that it is productivity rate of about seven towers per day, for one crew.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And these towers are the ones that require a heavy-lift helicopter, because they're about -- I saw a figure -- 26,000 pounds of weight that has to be in.  These helicopters are not common, right, they're sky-crane type of big helicopters that use it, that kind of equipment?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  You get these helicopters from where, from the U.S. or Canada?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There is various companies and so forth in there.  Erickson do them and --


MR. GARNER:  So you have a backup system of them.  How many do you use for this?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So the concept that we had put forward was to utilize two crews in order to do this.  We have had discussions with sky-crane suppliers and so forth to ensure that we would book slots to have availability on what's -- extra helicopters and so on as necessary.  If we weren't meeting certain production rates, if we hit certain weather rates and stuff, it would give us the ability to sort of push things forward and accelerate.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is important to realize that what is -- the plan that we have, when I am saying that you could do seven of them a day, will fit within the outage window, but we're going to run two crews just to get that extra degree of certainty, plus you have other resources available outside of that, should productivity really not get there.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So you have a couple of fairly large risks, right?  One is that the helicopters themselves, if have some mechanical and/or problem, you would have to bring in others ones that have to be replaced, and as I understand it, the other problem with this type of work is wind is a very big problem, because if you've got strong winds of any type you're going to have a problem moving towers; is that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There are certain wind conditions and so on that do cause impediments on this.  You know, we've used this type of installation with sky cranes quite successfully on a number of projects.  It is about planning it and making sure you've got the adequate resources and backup and so forth that go into it.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.  Have you done one -- 87 towers in two weeks before?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Not quad circuit towers, but we have installed -- I would have to go back and check the exact numbers, but significant numbers of towers within two- to three-week spans.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, significant numbers is not 87, perhaps, so maybe that is what I am wondering --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is probably greater than 87, but I would have to come back and check on that, I'm afraid.

MR. GARNER:  And two-week time frame doesn't seem unusual to put 87 towers?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, not at all.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

My next questions -- I am going to change to a different topic.  The next questions I have are really about the form of the company that Hydro One has been discussing, which is a -- I think the analogy you have used is B2M or the Bruce-to-Milton-type of concept.  Is that right, Mr. Spencer?  Eventually the idea is to build that type of company or have that type of company?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.  It would be a very similar structure.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And one of the differences, it struck me, is in fact if you go through the park.  How does one co-own those circuits going through the park?  I mean, how is that done?  There seems to be a commingling of two people's assets then, Hydro One's and this LSL.

MR. SPENCER:  So we would have to come to an agreement between the newly formed company that would own the new Lake Superior Link assets, and Hydro One Networks, which owns the existing two circuits.

So things like the conductor and insulators and hardware, those are easily defined.  The area where we would have to have a cost sharing agreement in place would of course be the towers.  So there are multiple different ways we could cover that off.  Most likely I have been told it would be a lease agreement between the two organizations where Hydro One would own the towers and lease the space to the new company, but there are a multitude of different ways where we could ensure the costs were properly proportioned between Hydro One Networks and the Newco.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And for the purpose of going through the park, what does that mean for Parks Canada?  Do you have a -- Hydro One is applying for the licence, not LSL, right?  That licence is going to be held by Hydro One, not by -- explain to me how it is held -- who is held by the end of this thing, because it is not clear to me.

MR. SPENCER:  I may need to refer to our real-estate expert on the panel to talk about the lease structure post-newco.

MR. FAIR:  So currently the overhold lease, it is in Hydro One's name, but we have ability to name an affiliate company within that agreement and carry forward in any new terms with Parks Canada to have that Newco as part of the licence agreement.

MR. GARNER:  I thought -- maybe I am wrong.  I thought you were in negotiations with Parks Canada on your terms of that licence right now.  Or is that completed?

MR. FAYE:  We have substantive terms agreed upon, but we have agreed basically the proceedings of this LTC would govern any other specific clauses that may have to be put into that agreement.

MR. GARNER:  And you have made Parks Canada aware that, in fact, once the project is completed the anticipation is that there will be two licences or some sort of designation of some parts of that licence...

MR. FAYE:  We have made them aware of that, but it is not uncommon for items like this to arrive during finalization of licences.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I am going to move on to another area.  I want to try and keep on time here.

Mr. Spencer, at the first day of the hearing you used -- and it is in the first tab 1 of my evidence, and just so you can refresh your memory, you said basically, well, true, and NextBridge has spent more than $75 million on this project to date.

Where did you get that figure from, $75 million?

MR. SPENCER:  So I was specifically referencing the attachment 3 to NextBridge's response to Staff 51 at page 55 of that attachment.  But the number can be reconstructed in a number of different ways.

Up to the period of ending August 31st, 2018, within NextBridge's submissions to their Board you can, in fact, tabulate the life-to-date costs to that point to be -- I believe subject to check it's $73.3 million.

Now, that was at the end of August, and here we are in early October.  So I think it is reasonable, whether you look at it through their own internal governance reporting or you look at it in this presentation that was provided to the chief of staff of the Minister of Environment, Conservation, and Parks, either way it is in excess of $75 million life to date.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.  And I am not trying to challenge you on the number.  What I really then want to ask you about is this question.  As you know, the Board's been reviewing the development costs of NextBridge for this project, and those development costs are less than this number that we're talking about, 77 million.

My anticipation is that if it should fail to get approval, LTC for this project, NextBridge would ultimately be seeking the remainder of those costs under, I think the Board called them windup costs in its original designation decision.

Would you agree with me they're likely to do that?  Whether they're successful or not, I don't know, but that's...

MR. SPENCER:  I believe they have indicated as such.  And even within one of the NextBridge responses to Hydro One interrogatory -- bear with me.  I am just trying to turn it up -- they did state so in unequivocal terms --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. SPENCER:  -- that they would, in fact, be seeking recovery of any of their requested development costs which were not, in fact, approved in the development phase, that they would in fact be seeking recovery of those costs through the construction phase.

MR. GARNER:  And I don't suppose that seems odd to you.  I mean, if you were in a similar situation, I suppose, for the best interest of your company, you would seeking those type of costs to be recovered too.  So that doesn't seem odd to you, does it?

MR. SPENCER:  Certainly the view that we've taken on this project is that the development costs, which, you know, if we're in fact not granted leave to construct, we would not be seeking recovery of those costs in excess of what the OEB had in fact approved which, in our case, life to date is zero. 

In the case of NextBridge, obviously the Board will render a decision on what they feel is prudent, and I'd better not speculate on the presumption of recovery of costs beyond that amount.


MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.  Perhaps it would have been better viewed being within the development costs, then.


What I am really wondering about is this, because I am looking at this problem from a ratepayer's perspective.  If the Board is inclined to approve some or all of NextBridge's costs, as a ratepayer, how do I look at your project at anywhere between $624 million and $683 million, those are sort of the figures, the not-to-exceed price to these low -- through the park?  Because as a ratepayer, it seems to me as I am somewhat indifferent in this sense, if I have to add $77 million, let's say, that you are saying on to the costs of the project irrespective, it doesn't seem to me it makes much -- well, it makes a difference.  But I have to impute that into my calculation as to which project I really care about, because it is either $736 or, in the case of 77 million and 624, somewhere around you know, $700 million, so I am not really looking at 624 anymore.  I am looking at -- that's my comparison.  Is that an unfair way to look at that?


MR. SPENCER:  That is not how I would like at things per se and with the risk of bordering on argument here, certainly the decision of the Board around what happens with the costs in above those they authorize for recovery is at their discretion.


Our view as a panel is that certainly those costs beyond what was approved and what ultimately will become approved through that development case proceeding, those dollars, in our view, should absolutely be at risk.  There is no certainty of recovery on those, and I am sure that concept will form a basis of conversation amongst all parties in this proceeding.


But I would not suggest NextBridge has guaranteed authorization of costs incurred beyond what the Board ultimately approves.


So to include those costs in any comparison of the two projects side by side, I would suggest is not the right way of looking at things.


MR. GARNER:  Sure.  Like you, Mr. Spencer, I don't want to get into argument.  I am really interested in your view of how to consider those dollars, because if I am listening to you -- but what I am really suggesting is whatever the figure the Board ultimately chooses to -- would choose to use, all I am suggesting to you is it seems reasonable, from a ratepayer perspective since ratepayers pay this through the UTR, the uniform transmission rate, those costs will get recovered from ratepayers in one fashion or another.  And in some sense, they just become parts of this project, correct?


MR. SPENCER:  I would suggest they only get recovered through UTR, if in fact they were viewed as necessary and prudent.


Just to draw one example, in NextBridge's response to Staff 55, you know, from the period of May to August 2018, there's in the order of $18 million of costs that were incurred.


One could certainly argue the prudency of that in a period where we were in the middle of this proceeding, including the motion, including where we find ourselves today, that to spend $18 million of cost without any guarantee or certainty of rate recovery, I would suggest that was a decision NextBridge consciously made and it is up to this Board's determination to decide if those costs were in fact prudent.


MR. GARNER:  Sure, thank you.  I understand your views of their costs.


Now, one last thing talking about these costs.  I had shared this compendium with you on Thursday, but I had added one piece over the weekend, and it was really just to get a relative sense.  It's at the last tab, tab 7.


I don't want to be unfair to you, Mr. Spencer, but in your role at Hydro One, are you involved in the ratemaking aspect of these types of projects?


MR. SPENCER:  Not directly, but I am informed with our planning department around building our transmission applications, yes.


MR. GARNER:  I only ask that because I don't want to get too deep, and then I don't want to be unfair to you.


What I am trying to do or I tried to figure out with this at some point in all of this is, what is the materiality of the differences between these two projects?  Again, in one sense, it is about whether the sunk costs that will have to be incorporated in it.  But in the other one was the fact that, as you can see in this extract, 

is -- I think as you understand or we both understand, there are a number of transmitters, right?  There is Cat Lake, there is B2M, there is Hydro One, et cetera, Sault Ste. Marie -- there's some that are affiliates of yours, correct?


And those revenue requirements all feed into doing the UTR, and UTR in this thing is at $1.6 billion, correct?


So why pick this extract, and it is very rough math.  I am not trying to hold it down to anything other than rough math right now.


But what this is showing me is that a 5.3 percent increase in the revenue requirement was pushing a 5.7 increase in the UTR.  That is pretty rough math, and I am sure one could look at it in different ways.


But I just sort of roughly said, you know, it is -- that's the sort of number that we're talking about.


Now, would you agree with me that in deriving your revenue requirement in this project, that the differences the Board is really looking at between NextBridge's project and your project really will be that difference in that revenue requirement, which will be combined of two things.   One is going to be your capital difference, so you have a lower capital cost and your return on that capital.  And the other is the one you have pointed out, your OM&A costs, which is substantially smaller, right?


But it is only that variance that the Board is really looking at, right, because that is the only difference between the two projects.


So my question to you is, do you have any notion of the revenue requirement variance that would occur between your proposal and NextBridge's proposal using any one of the figures you want to use, 683 or 624?  Do you have any sense of how much of the revenue requirement of the UTR would be impacted by that change?


MR. SPENCER:  I don't have the number at my disposal, but it can, of course, be determined by looking as our updated response to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 22, which is where we have provided updated DCF and revenue requirement tables at request of Schools in relation to our updated project pricing.


And you know, if one brings it away from revenue requirement just for a second -- I mean it is $150 million on an NPV basis, looking at both the capital and the maintenance -- I am rounding slightly, bear with me -- it's $147.3 million.  But I would suggest that as a material and substantial cost, and if we're looking at one project, if we had an opportunity to save, you know, a similar percentage when comparing two project alternatives on all of the projects executed in the transmission sector in Ontario, I think we would be doing a great service to customers.


So this is -- although your point of $1.6 billion plus on transmission UTR, certainly when we're looking at project-to-project direct comparison, there is a substantial benefit.


So the Hydro One update is in response to Schools 22, and I believe the NextBridge update -- I don't think their pricing has changed.  It is a little hard to tell, but I don't think the pricing has changed from their prefiled evidence.  So one could also find of course their comparison on revenue requirements from their own prefiled evidence.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.  On that issue about the materiality, and I think we both agree these are big numbers, the question I am merely trying to pursue or the issue I am trying to pursue is how much of those big numbers translate into actual rate impacts.


For instance, you have an OM&A of 1.3 million roughly, and NextBridge is 4.7, let's say roughly.


MR. SPENCER:  A clarification; it is about 1.5 million in our OM&A case.


MR. GARNER:  Let's call it a 3.5 million difference, so as not to argue.  I think that's roughly what the thing is.


Would it surprise you if I suggested to you that the materiality threshold in Hydro One's transmission case is 4.6 million?  So that the Board doesn't in essence do what I call detailed review on numbers that are below that?  Would that surprise you?


MR. SPENCER:  I would suggest the onus is on us as the transmitter to ensure that all of our costs are appropriately and prudently incurred.  And, you know, in a context of a total transmission multi-year rates application, obviously there has to be some line drawn to which costs above will be examined in further detail.


On this particular project, I think, you know, we're obviously reviewing things at a very low level of detail here.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.  I've tried to keep to my time.


MS. LONG:  I appreciate that, thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Murray?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Perhaps I could ask at the beginning.  I have two documents I am hoping to be marked as exhibits, so I am asking they be distributed.


The first is a Staff summary that has been prepared on the evidence on costs, and it has been distributed to the parties, both NextBridge and Hydro One, beforehand to provide comments, and I believe the numbers as currently included on the chart are accurate.  I would ask it be marked as Exhibit K4.2.  I will be asking some questions later on it. 
EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  OEB STAFF SUMMARY PREPARED ON THE EVIDENCE ON COSTS

MR. MURRAY:  And the other document is an interrogatory response of EW -- EWT LP from the designation process.  It is Interrogatory 29.  I will be asking some questions related to it.  And I would ask that it be marked as Exhibit K4.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  INTERROGATORY RESPONSE OF EWT LP FROM THE DESIGNATION PROCESS.

MR. MURRAY:  So I would like to start a discussion here today by going back to a couple of questions I asked last week to Ms. Croll about the EA.

The first question I asked related to the total project costs if Hydro One was not able to use any of the EA work of NextBridge.  I was wondering if you could provide an update with respect to that.

MS. CROLL:  So I think this is one of the updates we discussed earlier this morning, which was asked, and we have an answer.

So this was with respect to not being allowed to use any of NextBridge's work; is that correct?

MR. MURRAY:  Correct.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.  So we did look at that.  So we were looking at considering really the schedule and cost implications of NextBridge withdrawing its EA application and basically telling MECP that they wouldn't proceed?  Is that the question you were asking about?

MR. MURRAY:  What I have seen in the evidence is there is evidence, I believe, in one of the IR responses to the additional costs of the studies if you aren't able to use the EA work being $20 million, but I was looking for more of -- there will be obviously costs for the studies themselves, but there will be other construction-related delay costs, interest during construction.

So what we were trying to figure out is the actual number or the actual total project costs that would result from not being able to use any of the EA work.  Not just the study cost.

MS. CROLL:  Right.  So we did look at that and we thought about that.  It is our understanding that NextBridge was designated as the transmitter for the development phase, and it is required to complete that phase in order to recover the cost.

So the development work is clearly intended for the benefit of the project, not just the proponent.  So there is no reason to assume that there would not be a completed EA, and we have discussed the fact that we are able to use publicly available information.

So in such a situation we would continue to have the benefit of NextBridge's EA information, which is publicly available, and you can refer to our additional evidence from May 7th, 2018 regarding our opinion on that.

And so that would -- also we're allowed to use is things that are no longer publicly accessible.  We had that new evidence that we submitted last week regarding MECP's opinion on previous evidence.

So in the event that the EA work were available to us, we would also work with MECP to identify issues or concerns with the NextBridge EA work and supplement the work as required.

So we have no reason to believe that the existing EA work is deficient and, to the contrary, the evidence we've seen from NextBridge recently, we understand that the notice of completion was to be filed late in September, at the end of September, and since that EA would be no longer before MECP we would expect they would be able to discuss the status of that work with us and assist us in identifying any gaps.

So there is really no basis to expect any significant impact on construction and cost in that scenario.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  I guess I am not sure you quite answered my question.

So one of risks that is included in the risk register is not being able to use any of the EA work of NextBridge, and I believe that the probability of that is listed as 24 to 49 percent.

So in that circumstance, can you give me a bottom line dollar figure in terms of not just the study costs but all of the costs that would result in the project for a two-year delay where you had to redo all of the studies.  Is it possible to give a number for that?

MS. CROLL:  So I think it is difficult to give a number for that.

I mean, we can have an idea of what we may incur for EA costs, but at that point it would be difficult to understand exactly what work would have to be completed and how that would affect the schedule.

So we have set a likely minimum of two years, but we would have to make a number of assumptions, and I think, as we discussed, there were a number of scenarios put to us, and we couldn't really calculate the impact on cost and schedule for all of those scenarios.  So we chose a few.

And I think this is a very unlikely scenario that we couldn't use any of that work, because, as we have seen, we have progressed so far, and we have been allowed to rely on that work and reference it thus far.

MR. MURRAY:  Based on the evidence I have seen, it would suggest to me that the total number of a two-year delay and having to redo all of the EA studies could be in the range of 40-, $45 million.  Does Hydro One have any basis to think that that that number is high or inaccurate?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, the cost of redoing the --


MR. MURRAY:  This whole project delay of two years.  For example, the studies are $20 million.  I also know Hydro One's provided an estimate of the costs of a one-year delay in the EA approval, and that is an additional $15 million.  So just a one-year delay where you had to redo all of the studies would be in the range of $35 million.  And then perhaps there would be additional costs for a second-year delay.

So is there -- if you add those up, a one-year delay is $15 million.  So a two-year delay would be $30 million, plus $20 million for studies.  We're looking at $50 million.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That is all I see in the evidence in terms of this.  Is there anything else you can provide us?

MS. CROLL:  So I think the evidence -- really, we did the calculations for the one-year delay, and we haven't done the full project calculations for the two-year delay.  Again, we don't really see this as a likely scenario.  It remains our position that we can use that work.  So we've given a ballpark cost for the impact on the EA, but I think there are a number of impacts to the project, that really it is one of those multiple scenarios that we really haven't been able to quantify everything.

MR. MURRAY:  Would it be fair to say it would be north of $35 million?

MS. CROLL:  We haven't done those calculations.  And again, it's extremely unlikely.  We had to choose a number of calculations to go through the project costs, and that was the submission that we had, I believe, in Staff interrogatory 7, where we gave an EA delay scenario.

But again, we did not go past the one year.  There is no reason to believe we can't use the work, and it would be very difficult to suppose the final schedule and cost implications of that.

MR. MURRAY:  Is it fair to say that the costs, the total project costs of a two-year delay, are not currently contained or accounted for in the Hydro One contingency, that is included?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And to the extent that this event, albeit unlikely, were to occur, the actual costs of that event would greatly exceed the actual amount of the contingency that is currently there.

MS. CROLL:  Again, we haven't done those calculations. I think, keeping in mind when the risk registry was developed, it was very early on in the project.  So it was the fall of 2017.  And at that point there was much more uncertainty in the process that we could follow.  We initially thought perhaps we could just do an addendum to NextBridge's EA, and I think as we've moved along we've had more certainty in the process we can follow.

That risk remained in the registry, but as I mentioned in my previous testimony, it is a very difficult risk to update, because we really don't think that we won't be allowed to use any of that work, but we have recognized some additional costs as we have included in our revised pricing, as we've had to redo some things that weren't anticipated under the exemption or declaration order.

So that risk is still there.  But would it materialize into not being able to use any of the information?  That is extremely unlikely.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't know if you have to pull it up, but the risk register lists this as item number 1, and it lists the probability of this occurring as 24 to 49 percent.  Perhaps you could clarify.  Is that of some sort of having to do some new studies, or is that of the two-year delay?

MS. CROLL:  That would be -- and this is why it was difficult to update.  When that risk was originally placed in the registry it was meant to be what I would call a go/no-go risk.  So if we had felt in our discussions with the regulator, Ministry of Environment, or in our own discussions internally at Hydro One that we couldn't use any of that information, and had to begin the EA process basically from scratch, we would not have been proceeding with the project.

So as we moved through the process and gained some comfort in the process we could follow, whether it is an exemption or now this scoped individual EA, that exact risk became very unlikely.

However, there remained a risk that we couldn't use -- we couldn't rely on all information in the NextBridge individual EA.  So you will recall I spoke about the issue of the Dorion bypass.  So because the NextBridge EA did not have legal standing at that point, we needed to do some additional work and basically convey for ourselves to regulators that we had chosen the preferred route through Dorion.

So these were individual EA costs that were not what we expected, and they would fall in that risk category of not being able to use NextBridge's work, but not to the extent of being, you know, a catastrophic, not allowed to use anything.

So we kept that risk in the registry, with the caveat -- and you will see in the updates -- that it really was about not being able to use all of the work.

MR. MURRAY:  I think I understand.  So essentially what you're saying is the 24 to 49 percent is that you can't use some of the work.  That is not just the scenario where you can't use any of the work.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  So our original entry, you know, a year ago was what if we can't use any of the work?  What if there is no way we can amend the NextBridge EA?  We have to start from scratch and it could take years.  And I think that risk is now, we know, off the table.

However, because we needed to respond to an interrogatory, we didn't put a lot of detailed effort into quantifying that.  But we -- you will see the language is an order of magnitude estimate of $20 million and at least two years.

So again, we focussed on the more likely delay scenarios of shorter time spans, and partially being able to use work.

MR. MURRAY:  The other question I wanted to follow up from last week was I posed a question with respect to the national park.

MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  And I posed a situation where sometime late in the process, for example July 2019, at that point you are advised by the Parks Canada that you can't go through the park.

I was hoping you could provide some sort of estimate with respect to both the schedule impact and the cost impact, if that situation were to arise.

MS. CROLL:  So we did have -- I can't recall exactly which exhibit, but we did have some cost implications of going around the park.  And I think, to clarify, that was with the consideration that we would find out about that in a reasonable time frame.

So I think the scenario you are asking about is, what if, when we're expecting approval from the park, instead of getting that sort of at the 11th hour, they change their minds and say we wouldn't get that.

So we were asked to consider the schedule and cost implications of that.

So I would remind you that we've been in discussions with Parks Canada for almost a year now.  It was key that in November of 2017, the park made it clear that they felt our license agreement and the nature of our undertaking was allowable.  And you will recall, they said they were not opposed to the project in principle.

As I've said, we've been meeting with them regularly on that.

So the work is also permissible under the license agreement, obviously subject to the terms of the agreement.  Again, we've been meeting regularly with Parks Canada and as recently as August, they confirmed that the tower proposals could all be considered.

So we routinely request feedback and receive it from Parks Canada.  So there is no reason to expect that suddenly a year from now, Parks Canada would then come up with some critical obstacle that would preclude approval.

Also as a federal regulatory body, we would expect them to act responsibly, carefully review and consider matters and it is unreasonable to think they would suddenly adopt a completely different position.

So also last Friday, just last Friday which was October 5th, we received comments from Parks Canada on our terms of reference that we submitted, and it was about a page of comments.  They were minor, and they did reiterate just last Friday that they're continuing to work with us through the Federal Impact Assessment Process with respect to the federal EA.

So those were comments they just provided to MECP last Friday.  So we see no reason to expect that the park would suddenly change their mind.

So again, that is a very difficult scenario to consider, because it's very unlikely they would wait until approval was due to change their minds.

So if we were to find out in advance, we've already submitted costing for what our comparative costs would be to go around the park.

MR. MURRAY:  I want to follow up on the comment that it would be unlikely they would raise these issues late in the day.

MS. CROLL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MURRAY:  Am I correct that some of the studies originally planned for this year has been post posed until spring of 2019?

MS. CROLL:  Some of them, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  What if some of those studies raise concerns that ultimately cannot be resolved by Hydro One.  Could they not then pull it late in the day, based upon those studies or concerns raised in those studies?

MS. CROLL:  We do have to complete those studies.  But again, keep in mind that through the park, we're not cutting any trees.  We're using the existing right-of-way.  The towers are in roughly the same locations.

So it is a very low risk scenario.

Again, based on our conversations with Parks Canada, we feel it is unlikely that they would continue to support us through this project and then, at the very last minute, revise their opinion.

MR. MURRAY:  So based upon that kind of belief, Hydro One isn't able to provide kind of a cost estimate or schedule impact if this was kind of to arise late in the day?

MS. CROLL:  No, and we don't feel that it is particularly relevant.

Again, even if we have some concerns with some of the studies that we finish in the spring, we wouldn't be looking for that approval until -- the current schedule is August, but now we know that would be October with the two-month delay in NextBridge's anticipated EA approval, which we talked about moving our declaration order schedule ahead by two months.

So those studies will be done in the spring, and again we would have until October for that approval to come from Parks Canada.

So we would expect to be able to work through any of those minor issues in those months.

MR. MURRAY:  Just before I leave the Parks Canada issue, I just wanted to make sure I understood this correctly.  You're not seeking approval from the Board for what I'll call the alternate route around the park.

Currently, you are only seeking leave to construct on the route through the park; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So to the extent that that issue was to arise and you had to go around the park, you would come back to the Board and seek some sort of amendment to the earlier leave to construct?

MS. CROLL:  I can't comment on that process.

MR. SPENCER:  So in that hypothetical scenario, that would of course be a material change to our leave to construct as filed and ultimately approved in that case, at which point we would return to the Board with an update on schedule and cost of what that would look like in that scenario.

But again for us, our preferred route we're seeking is of course through the park, in accordance with the cost structure and schedule we have presented.

MR. MURRAY:  So I would then like to move on and talk about the not-to-exceed proposal.  I was hoping we could pull up Staff IR 18.

If we could go to page 2 of the document, and if we could scroll down to the bottom to the response, the first paragraph?

The first paragraph of your response reads:  
"Hydro One would be open to consideration of a not-to-exceed price of $683 million to deliver the project in accordance with the February application and updated evidence, subject to the conditions of receiving leave to construct in January 2019 as well as environmental approvals by August 2019."

So, the $683 million, just to confirm, that is the amount that you propose to go through Pukaskwa National Park, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  So our project to go through the park in accordance with this schedule is $642 million.  The upper bound that we've looked at within our estimating tolerances of the way that we structured the project would be approximately $683 million.

So, correct, following the park route.  But that would be our high water mark.

MR. MURRAY:  That includes the $16 million in development costs?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Is Hydro One also prepared to commit to a number if it is ultimately required to go around the park?

MR. SPENCER:  So that would be a material change to our project, and our project that we've proposed is $642 million.

So the question, would we commit to a not-to-exceed price to go around the price, I think that would be a material change we would have to assess at the point that that change was known.  We wouldn't commit to it today, certainly.

We don't think it is the -- a necessary alternative when we consider the conversations with Parks Canada, as well as the status of our environmental assessment work.

MR. MURRAY:  So you are not prepared to say, for example, $683 to go through the parks, plus -- I think you have estimated going around the park would be an extra 40, $41 million more.  As an alternative, Hydro One is not prepared to put forward a number that includes both of those as a not-to-exceed?

MR. SPENCER:  I think it is, just as you have done, overlaying those two numbers to come up with an upper bound of an alternative scenario can give an indicative pricing of what it would look like in a worst case scenario.

Would we commit?  Your question, if I understood it, is would we commit to a not-to-exceed price of that amount.  We will not be able to get binding authority on that prior to argument in-chief being required for this particular proceeding.

So I feel entirely comfortable that one would be able to certainly bring the project in below that amount.  But would we be able to commit in a binding contracted sense in terms of this proceeding?  No.

MR. MURRAY:  Is it something you would put to your board as part of the October meeting?

MR. SPENCER:  We certainly think our value proposition to this project is pursuing the route that we have defined, and we have every reason to believe we will be successful in that.

So we would, perhaps, present it as informational and contextual in the context of the overall project, but we would not be seeking this multi-dimensional, "what if this, what if that" endorsement from our board.

And just to circle back on the base case of 642.  Certainly our view is that any cost in excess of $642 million in our case is always subject to prudence review, and always at the Board's discretion around recovery or disallowance of those costs.

So, you know, the 642 with the estimated upper bound, even in the absence of the Hydro One board of directors' approval for the not-to-exceed price, functionally we have tabled this as a high water mark of what we would expect the costs to be.  And certainly with the amount of evidence that's presented in this application I would certainly assert that any costs above 642 would be subject to that prudency review, and certainly anything substantially beyond that amount up to and including 683 should be challenged by the Board, given the amount of time and effort that we have put into this project proposal here.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to then talk about kind of the conditions or requirements that are part of this not-to-exceed proposal and, in particular, the August 2019 environmental approvals.  I think it is fair to say, given NextBridge's EA is likely not to be approved until February, that the August date is no longer viable.  Is that --


MR. SPENCER:  That is a fair assessment, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And I thought I understood from the testimony last week to the extent it went beyond August to September or October or November that it wouldn't necessarily mean the -- sorry, the not-to-exceed price was completely off the table.  But rather, there would be an incremental amount as a result of that delay.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.  It is in the order of approximately $1.5 million from the response to Staff 7, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Could I ask that Staff IR 7 be pulled up.  If we could go to the table.  I think it is on page 2.  I would like to put a couple of scenarios to you.

In a situation where environmental approval was delayed five months to January 2020, would Hydro One's not-to-exceed price in that situation be $683 million plus $4.5 million?

MR. SPENCER:  That would be reasonable, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  But I guess what I say is to the extent there was a five-month delay would Hydro One be prepared for a hard cap of 683 plus 4.5?

MR. SPENCER:  We would certainly manage to deliver the project for the 642, plus the 4.5 million, and be subject to prudency review of anything beyond that.

Our forecast is that we can, and will, bring the project in for less than the upper bound of the cost estimate which, just following your math, would be approximately 683 plus approximately 4.5 million.

But we have every intention to bring this project at 642, plus the incremental 4.5.

MR. MURRAY:  I am probably a little confused.  Perhaps I will take a step back.  What happens to the $683 million number if approval isn't granted by August?  Does it completely fall away?  Or are we looking at kind of the incremental delay costs beyond that?  So for example, in this situation, are we looking at 683 plus 4.472 as a kind of a hard not-to-exceed price if there is a five-month delay?  Or are we not?

MR. SPENCER:  It would be the upper bound to our cost estimate.  And certainly we don't forecast going beyond that amount.  We would ask, and we would suggest that we be challenged to our 642 plus this amount.  So just under $650 million.  That is where we would be aiming to deliver the project for, and any costs in excess of that would be subject to prudency review.  Our high water mark on our forecasted costs beyond that would, in fact, yes, be our 683 plus this 4.5 million would be our upper estimate on the range.

MR. MURRAY:  So to the extent that the actual costs were in the range of 700 million, would you only be seeking to recover 688 million or $687.5 million?

MR. SPENCER:  In this situation I am almost certain that the Board would hold us to that lower number and challenge us to ensure that all of the costs incurred were in fact prudent, and I would personally anticipate that there would be disallowance of anything beyond our forecast upper water mark of 683 plus the four-and-a-half.

MR. MURRAY:  Would Hydro One seek to recover those costs beyond that amount, though?

MR. SPENCER:  I think it would be unlikely that we would in fact be granted recovery, at which point we would not likely be seeking recovery.  If we didn't feel the costs were likely to be endorsed by the OEB we wouldn't be seeking recovery of those costs.

MR. MURRAY:  So I just want to make sure I have this right.  So if there is 700 million -- five-month delay because of the EA, the actual costs come in at $700 million, will Hydro One seek recovery of only 687,472, or would they seek recovery of 700?

MR. SPENCER:  It would of course be a function of the circumstances around the additional approximately $13 million, but if it is things that we ought to have known and should have known in accordance with our project plan we would not seek cost recovery of those additional costs, knowing that they likely would not be endorsed and approved by the Board.

MR. MURRAY:  And similarly, in a situation where it was a 12-month EA delay, would the cap be 683 plus 14.8 million?

MR. SPENCER:  The same logic and rationale holds with the incremental.  The only factor changing is the dollar amount.  So if these are conditions and associated costs that we should have, ought to have known, we would not be seeking cost recovery on those incremental amounts.

MR. MURRAY:  Is the option of 683 plus, for example, 14.8, is that something that will be put to the Board for approval?

MR. SPENCER:  So the timing of this proceeding and the timing of our Hydro One board of directors meeting poses some challenges.  Our plan is on October 16th we would have a meeting with our board to bring them up-to-speed on this project, talk about everything that has evolved, certainly in the history of the project since they became a new board in mid-August, and we were not planning to seek their approval of a not-to-exceed price on that day.  It is, quite frankly, a lot to digest within the 30-minute time period with pre-reads and allow sufficient time for them to be comfortable with the concept of a not-to-exceed price.

So I think getting a Hydro One board of directors decision before argument-in-chief is due on the 22nd will be very challenging.

What I am trying to assure as a witness panel is that, based on the project plan we have put together and the risks that we have articulated within our proposal on cost and schedule, we are comfortable committing to the $642 million.  We have indicated what that might look like in various delay scenarios and an upper bound of our cost estimate.

So certainly any costs beyond our 642 we anticipate we will be challenged and held to a very high standard by the Board around prudence and associated recovery.

I feel confident we can bring this project in for, in a base case, less than 683, and in these delay scenarios of upwards of approximately $15 million for a 12-month EA we can bring it in for less than 683, plus $15 million.  The challenge will be, I will not be able to obtain our board's express consent prior to parties needing to submit argument-in-chief on the 22nd.

However, the $642 million base case is our number.  We've got a plan to deliver to it subject to obtaining EA approvals, and of course this schedule articulates what the incremental costs would look like to that.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there any way to kind of expedite the Board process to try and get their approval prior to the filing of arguments?

MR. SPENCER:  As I am sure you can imagine, there's a lot on the Board agenda for Hydro One Networks these particular days.  And given that the meeting itself is on the 16th, I think it would be very challenging and perhaps almost unfair to those board members to cover this all off on one meeting.

The plan has always been to get two meetings for them to both be educated and informed on it, as well as time to consider an approval request that would have to come at a later point.

So to do something in advance of October 22nd to allow our board to make an approval and allow parties to this proceeding to be informed and digest and incorporate that into their argument, I think is honestly too tight.

MR. MURRAY:  I understand that ultimately you are planning to have kind of the Board vote on this in early November, is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, that would be the timing we would return to the Board with a discussion around not-to-exceed, yes, or an approval of not-to-exceed.

MR. MURRAY:  What is your plan to do with respect to that vote, whether it is in favour or not in favour?  Are you planning to tell the OEB what the results of that are?

MR. SPENCER:  We certainly could.  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Since ultimately there will be a vote, perhaps at the beginning of November, I go back to kind of like the proposal of -- if there's a one-year delay in the EA, is the not-to-exceed price that's being put to the Board, or one of the options being put to the Board is, we propose to the extent there is a one-year EA delay, the not-to-exceed price we're putting forward to the OEB is $683 million plus 14.8.  Is that something the Board can vote on?

MR. SPENCER:  We could present that alternative scenario to them, yes.  We have LCSA we have confidence in the numbers that we have used to underpin this.

MR. MURRAY:  I just want to understand the implications of the not-to-exceed price, because I thought I understood what it meant and then I heard some testimony last week that confused me.

In particular, I was hoping we could pull up the original application that's been filed, Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1 of the original evidence.  I believe it might be page 11 of this document.

There is a heading:  Risk elements not included in the price.  I think it is on page 11 -- yes, there.  So risk elements not included in the price, and there was some discussion about this last week.

What I thought I heard from Mr. Spencer last week was that these five bullets under the heading risk elements not included in the Hydro One price are further carve-outs from the not-to-exceed proposal.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  Generally, yes, you did.

MR. MURRAY:  If there is a significant change in materials, ratepayers could be asked to pay those costs?

MR. SPENCER:  So within our fixed price EPC contract with SNC-Lavalin, once we execute the contract post leave-to-construct approval, those costs will be committed.  An update on this risk, we would -- SNC would purchase a hedging instrument to guard against commodity fluctuations in steel and aluminum, and that is included in our $546 million EPC price.

So that risk would be guarded for customers.  And we can do the same on foreign exchange risk as well.

MR. MURRAY:  Currently, the materials commodity rates and exchange risks, based upon today's materials costs, commodity rates and exchange rates, the number you are proposing today is based upon those current numbers, correct, not when you filed?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And can you give me a sense of what is considered a significant change?  Are we talking 20 percent?  Are we talking 50 percent?  Are we talking 100 percent?

MR. SPENCER:  Allow me to confer with my panel, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SPENCER:  So my colleague, Mr. Karunakaran, and I will probably tag-team this one.

For all intents and purposes, this item identified in our prefiled evidence of February 2018 can be substantially eliminated as a risk the project carries upon being granted leave to construct.

Once Hydro One is awarded that opportunity, we would execute the contract with SNC and at that point in time, we can -- SNC can buy a hedging instrument to ensure there is no variability in our pricing.  And that is in fact our project plan.

So since this was updated -- this evidence was submitted in February of this year, the intention of covering a period up to approximately October 2018 was really just to time-box the validity of the pricing, if we will.

Certainly if we have -- if we have a leave-to-construct approval in the coming one, or two, or three months, material prices will not likely move substantially in that period.  At that time, we will lock-in a hedge to guard against any escalation and that cost to buy that instrument is in fact included in our project total costs that have been presented.

So essentially, we can eliminate this risk once granted leave to construct.

MR. MURRAY:  So coming back to my question, what would be a significant change in materials commodity rates?  What would trigger this event to occur between now and when ultimately you are granted leave to construct?

Are we talking a 20 percent change, 50 percent change, 100 percent change?

MR. SPENCER:  It is tough for us to put a number to that right now.  If that was something of specific interest, we would have to undertake to produce that number

MR. MURRAY:  I guess what Staff is trying to understand is if there is a 10 percent change in commodities and materials, are you going to come back and say that that's additional amounts that you should recover above 683?

MR. SPENCER:  We would have to confirm the specific number.

However, there is certainly some allowance within our EPC pricing for material variability.  There is -- you know, the risk and contingency that is embedded within that EPC contract.

The material portion of this overall contract, let's not lose scale of that, is in the order of -- it is a little less than $60 million.  So what does that work out to?  Something in the order of 12 to 13 percent of the overall contract.  And within all of these figures, there is of course a reasonable allowance for minor movements or any movements within commodity prices.

So we're standing by our EPC price as filed today.  And we would have to come back to what significant or extraordinary changes might look like between today and the Board ultimately granting leave-to-construct approval.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus on another one of the bullets:  any condition imposed by regulatory bodies or government agencies.

If the MOECP was to require you to do additional studies as part of your EA, is that amounts for which ratepayers might ultimate ultimately be required to pay?

MS. CROLL:  I think we discussed this one.  It came up in another question earlier.  That would be unforeseen conditions.

So routinely in environmental assessments, there are typical conditions imposed like timing windows, mitigation for species.  This was meant to represent something unforeseen that wasn't anticipated as a typical EA condition.

So again, I couldn't comment on what that is because it would be unforeseen, but something out of the order for typical mitigation measures in an EA.

MR. SPENCER:  And the costs we have in fact included in our updated project pricing of $642 million do include all of the foreseeable costs associated with doing studies, and the associated updates to our EA applications to ensure those costs are in there.

MS. CROLL:  And we moved some of the -- if you'll recall, we had a contingency item post EA during construction.  We've moved that into the cost.  So we took -- I would have to look at exactly what that amount was in the construction costs -- $890,000 in contingency costs that we moved into our cost for permits and approvals post EA.

So again, these would be things that are out of the ordinary for typical EA mitigation measures.

MR. MURRAY:  But to the extent -- for example, you didn't think you had to do -- I know one thing I have seen is bat studies.  If for some reason you didn't think you had to do a bat study, but then the MOECP required you to do a bat study, is that something that would be covered by the 683 not-to-exceed price?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, those would be minor costs, minor comments that happens routinely, having to do some additional studies.  Those are not large costs.

I think it would have to be something significant that would cause an unforeseen significant delay in the project, like having to monitor something for two seasons or something, so two years.  Not that we would expect that, but just -- I mean, you can't possibly foresee every condition that is imposed, and there has to be some reasonableness to a not-to-exceed price.  Something that is entirely out of the ordinary has to have some sort of consideration.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move on and talk about what is covered by the not-to-exceed price.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, just, if I may elaborate on this one bullet.  The intention of this was intended to deal with changes in law or -- you know, at the time this was written we had perhaps foresight there would be a new provincial government coming in and they might impose certain conditions.  Other provinces have had significant changes imposed upon them like route alterations during construction or EA.

So not that we foresee any of that stuff in this proceeding, but that is really the sort of risk this bullet was intended to guard against.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

Now, I would like to try and move on and discuss what is covered by the not-to-exceed price.  So if soil conditions are revealed to be more challenging than anticipated, are Hydro One and/or SNC-Lavalin bearing the costs, those costs, beyond $683 million?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if the number of expropriations exceeds estimates and there is increased expropriation costs, is Hydro One prepared to bear those costs beyond $683 million?

MR. SPENCER:  Our approach to real estate is we don't think we will need as many expropriations, but the direct answer to your question, if our expropriation costs are greater than we anticipated we will bear that cost, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if the resources required to discharge the duty to consult are higher than anticipated is Hydro One prepared to bear those risks beyond $683 million?

MR. SPENCER:  We have certainly relied upon our judgment around all of the work that's been done to date in our consultation, conversations with the affected communities, and are comfortable with the costs we have put forward.  And we feel that those costs that we have estimated and included in our case are in fact prudent, and we will be able to discharge the duty to consult in accordance with those costs.

MR. MURRAY:  But to the extent it costs more than you anticipated, I think there is a certain amount set aside for consultation currently in the budget.  If it costs more than that, is that included in the 683 not-to-exceed?

MR. SPENCER:  It is included, yes.  The, I guess the small caveat would be that if for some reason we had costs substantially beyond what we had estimated, we would of course be subject to prudency review on any of those costs incurred.  We have used every piece of information at our disposal to accurately estimate what those costs will be.  We have confidence in the numbers as presented.  And on that basis we are willing to commit to doing it for less than $683 million.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry.  Maybe I didn't catch that right.  I will give you an example.  Everything comes in exactly -- costs generally come in on budget, but something -- an event occurs, and you end up spending $693 million, and there is an additional $10 million for consultation above what you originally estimated.

Are you going to seek recovery of that additional $10 million beyond 683?

MR. SPENCER:  Only if the costs were, in our eyes, prudently incurred, and we think we have sufficient costs within our base case as well as our -- the upper bound of our cost estimate here to do it for less than 683 million.

So the only case we would be seeking any incremental recovery beyond that amount would be if there was something that was beyond what we should have, ought to have known at this point in the proceeding, and again, there's been extensive work done in this area, and our conversations to date with Indigenous partners, we do feel comfortable in the cost figures put forward.

MS. GOULAIS:  If I may just add to Mr. Spencer's response as well.  As you mentioned in your question, the duty to consult has been delegated to Hydro One by the Ministry of Energy, and as we have listed here in some of the risk elements, as the governmental agency and a regulatory body -- or, sorry, governmental agency, if the Minister of Energy imposes any extra or additional requirements upon us that we were not aware of at the time of drafting our consultation plan and our budget, then we would have to consider those additional costs associated with, I have mentioned here, conditions imposed upon us by a governmental agency, which in this case could be the Ministry of Energy, as the Crown agency that delegated that consultation.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent they say, well, the consultation you have done, you haven't gone back to this Indigenous group and spoken with them about these issues, you need to go back and do that again, is that something that is not covered by the 683 million?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. GOULAIS:  So additional costs associated with Hydro One being asked to conduct further consultation that it should have done as a part of its regular consultation process, those costs would be included.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

I am very mindful my time is quickly dwindling, so I am going to move on because I still have two areas I am hoping to cover very briefly.  The next area I would like to talk about a bit is OM&A costs.

For this if I could ask you to pull up Exhibit K4.2, which is a Staff summary chart on the evidence.  And before talking about OM&A costs I just wanted to confirm for the record that both the development and construction costs under the Hydro One or HONI proposals, those accurately reflect your current development or construction costs for the project?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus on the OM&A costs at the bottom.  Do you agree that the OM&A costs listed here accurately reflect Hydro One's estimated OM&A costs for the line?

MR. SPENCER:  I am going to clarify my understanding.  These costs are what was forecast by the EWT LP back in the designation proceeding, of which Hydro One Networks was one party, and of course two others being Bamkushwada and Great Lakes Power, so these are costs that that entity at that point in time felt would be required for the ongoing operations, maintenance, administration of the line.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, I think we're getting distracted by what is on the screen.  I am actually still focused on K4.2, so the $1.499 million amount.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry.  I was --


MR. MURRAY:  I think we all got distracted by the screen.

The 1.499 million, does that accurately reflect the current OM&A estimates of Hydro One?

MR. SPENCER:  That's the incremental costs, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if I could ask you to turn up NextBridge's IR 54, Staff IR 54, if it is possible to pull up NextBridge's responses.  If we could go to page 4 of that document.

Now, as we can see from the cost summary chart, Exhibit K4.2, there is a significant gap between the OM&A costs of NextBridge and of Hydro One.  I want to explore those a little bit further.

On page 4 what they do is they have broken out what they call their compliance, including administration costs, so it is a $2.499 million globally, and they have broken it down into a number of sub-parts, and I want to focus on the last two of these sub-parts.

Under "stakeholder relations program", they budgeted $254,000.  And if you turn over to the next page you will find a description of what that is supposed to cover.  It is supposed to cover costs such as labour and newsletter, mailings, are based on historic spending of the project and adjusted to reflect anticipated effort for the post-in-service period.

Does Hydro One's current OM&A numbers have any amount set aside for stakeholder relations?

MR. SPENCER:  Within our $235,000 of incremental costs per year, we would, in fact, be covering off some of those general corporate functions, like NextBridge has listed in this response, for things like stakeholder relations programs.  We would not be carrying additional staff that would ultimately be doing this work.  We would leverage the existing infrastructure and resources within Hydro One Networks and establish a service level agreement between the two entities, Hydro One Networks and the new partnership, to provide these types of services.

So any incremental costs to focus on activities like stakeholder relations program, they would be a -- although there would be an additional revenue requirement in the Newco, there would be an offsetting revenue requirement on Hydro One Networks.  So there is really no incremental cost to customers if Hydro One were to own and operate this line post-construction.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus now on the last, Indigenous costs, lands, and participation.  So they have set aside $1 million for these activities.

And I think I understand from the evidence last week from Mr. Fair that Hydro One set aside $200,000 for the rents or the payments for crossing reserves.  Do I have that right?

MR. FAYE:  That's correct.  Approximately $200,000, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you direct me to where those amounts are included?  Are they included in the administration or operations?

MR. FAYE:  In the administration category.

MR. MURRAY:  And can you tell me how you arrived at the $200,000 amount?

MR. FAYE:  That is based on experience.  Hydro One locates transmission lines across the province in 24 First Nation reserves.  That's based on our policy and formulas surrounding land rentals in our PIL policy.

MR. MURRAY:  Are there any other Indigenous participation costs included in the annual OM&A numbers of Hydro One?

MR. SPENCER:  No.  One of the differences between the two proposals is that the largest form of participation comes in the form of equity ownership, as opposed to any sort of ongoing expense, perhaps might be included in these numbers.

MR. MURRAY:  Do you feel that there should be any additional amounts for ongoing Indigenous participation as part of the OM&A costs?

MR. SPENCER:  I can speak to how we've structured our project and ultimate ownership, that we would not seek an annualized fee in addition to -- aside from what my colleague, Mr. Fair, referred to for land rights payments.

We view our participation comes in the form of larger percentage of equity ownership, which is what we felt was prudent.  So I won't want to pass judgment on what the other proponent has proposed in theirs.

MR. MURRAY:  So we don't know the exact amount that NextBridge is currently paying for rents, though intend to ask the question in cross-examination of them.

Let's assume for a minute it is the whole amount.  One million dollars is for rents to cross the reserves; that is the agreement they entered into.  Is there any reason to believe those First Nations would agree to any amount less than one million dollars for Hydro One to cross those reserves?

MR. FAYE:  In my opinion, if this million dollars was an annual amount for land rental for sighting of the line, it is misguided and completely off base from any kind of industry standard or industry way of approaching land rights with First Nations for sighting any major infrastructure.

MR. MURRAY:  Absent approval or consent of the First Nations, are you able to cross their reserves?  Like, is there like the equivalent of an expropriation process for those lands?

MR. FAYE:  No, not to my belief, no.

MR. MURRAY:  So to the extent they didn't agree to, for example, the $200,000 and they insisted on a larger amount -- for example, a million dollars -- is it fair to say that Hydro One has two options; one is to either pay the higher amount or the other option is to go around the reserve.

MR. FAYE:  If I could just to backtrack on how we arrived at that approximate $200 land rental payment, it is based on recent -- recent finalized 28-2 permit agreements with First Nations, in line with our policies that we have had success with.

Again, I would basically state that I am confident in those numbers in approaching a settlement with the impacted -- the directly impacted First Nations within reserve lands.

MR. MURRAY:  But ultimately, if you aren't successful and they insist upon $1 million to cross the reserves, am I right saying there's two options?  One is either you pay that annual amount, or the other option is you take the line around the reserves; is that fair?

MR. FAYE:  I think using NextBridge as a measuring stick in the million dollar land rental ongoing payment they have offered to those directly impacted First Nations is not a fair assessment.

So saying that there is one option or another I don't think is a fair assessment.  Again, we believe strongly in our approach with First Nations and sighting transmission lines across the province.  We have had recent success based on that methodology.

Again, I would -- I wouldn't be able to give you a straight answer on those two options.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there a third option?  Is there something beyond those two?  Like either you reach an agreement to cross the reserve, or you go around the reserve.  Is there some other option I am missing here?

MR. FAYE:  Not to my belief, no.

MR. SPENCER:  Distinctly from the real estate dimension, I would suggest no.  The two scenarios are probably a logical approach.  But of course this is one factor in a multitude of variables that we hope to eventually be able to speak to as part of the consultation around economic participation.

We have approached this differently from NextBridge, no doubt in many ways, and Ms. Goulais will just elaborate in a moment.  But the biggest difference perhaps is our increased participation through ownership in the line, which is consistent with how we have approached other projects in Ontario, and we feel offers lasting benefits in the order of a $30 million differential that we have previously spoken to from our May evidence, by having greater participation and ownership in the lines.

MS. GOULAIS:  If I may just add to Mr. Fair's response in terms of how did we come up with these numbers and if we're looking at a comparison.  I think that's -- I think the important point to make here is that Hydro One does have existing transmission assets in 24 First Nation communities.

So we have the experience in understanding, permitting and negotiating with communities on that.

We have to base our negotiations on fairness, because we do have assets across the province and we have that ongoing relationship.

We do not have the ability to negotiate with the two communities on this project differently than we would with any communities.

We have to be fair, and it is also impacts from a fairness -- a ratepayer fairness perspective as well.  So we have to have -- Mr. Fair's group has guidelines and policies that we work through to make sure that we're not only being fair to the First Nation communities that we have existing assets and permits with, but also to the ratepayer.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Murray, you have five minutes.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Is this $1.499 million, going back to your OM&A costs, are these based on an assumption that the lines operate by Hydro One, as opposed to Hydro One in a partnership with another entity?

MR. SPENCER:  The day-to-day operations would be established through a service level agreement between the new partnership and Hydro One Networks.

Hydro One Networks would provide maintenance and inspection of the overhead facilities, as well as the operations and control centre functions.

MR. MURRAY:  And perhaps if we could now pull up IRR 29, Exhibit 4.3.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on this because I have one more area I want to quickly cover.

But this was the EWT LP of which Hydro One was a party, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And the OM&A costs proposed as part of that proceeding were significantly higher than are currently being proposed by Hydro One?

MR. SPENCER:  Different proceeding, different parties, different time, but yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there any -- appreciating it is a different proposal and different project, but still the same line over the same length with Hydro One as the main parties.  Is there any further explanation you can provide as to why those costs are so much higher than what you are projecting today?

MR. SPENCER:  I am not familiar, to be on honest, on the build-up of these costs from seven, eight years ago.  I am comfortable and confident in the numbers we have put forward as part of this proposal in the order of $1.5 million annualized.

MR. MURRAY:  Could I ask that we pull up NextBridge IR 24, Hydro One's response to NextBridge IR 24?  I want to move on to talk quickly in my three minutes remaining about the quad towers.

If I could ask you to go to the response to part (d), in this response you have referenced that while you don't have any experience dealing with eighty to 90 consecutive four-circuit towers, Hydro One has successfully built and operated the Cherrywood to TS -- to Clarington TS lines, which have 48 consecutive towers.

I just wanted to confirm.  My understanding is the in- service date for this line was spring of 2018.  Is that accurate?

MR. REINMULLER:  No.  That line, original line was built in 1976.

The one thing that changed between last year and this year, there was a new station included between Cherrywood and Bowmanville.

So they're splitting -- instead of having 48 consecutive lines, you have a split and now you have 40 -- well, you have 20 some towers coming to a point and 20 some odd towers again coming from another point.

MR. MURRAY:  But the quad circuit has been there for a number of years, back to the 70s?

MR. REINMULLER:  So to elaborate on that, we have been using quad towers since 1928.

So between 1928 and 1934, we used the first quad towers in the Ottawa area, and they're standing today, despite the tornado that we had last week.

In addition to those in Ottawa, in the 50s, we added a number of quad towers in the Burlington area that we have been operating successfully for I would say 68 years now.  And these most recent ones that are -- that we're referencing between Cherrywood and Clarington, those are built in '76 and carry, again, four circuits.


And it is a very important note to make.  Those four circuits between Cherrywood and Clarington carry about anywhere between 600 and 800 megawatts of load, which is comparable to the entire load of the northwest Ontario.


So if you were to be worried about quad circuits in the park serving the northwest Ontario, one would have to be worried about these circuits as well.


MR. MURRAY:  And I know there is in the evidence and in particular JT, I believe it was 1.12, during the motion proceeding, you provided a list of the number of three- and four- and six-circuit towers that exist.


And I don't know if we have time to pull it up, but it strikes me that a lot of those towers relate to -- or seem to be in the GTA area, and not a situation where you have one -- sorry, all four circuits originating on one TS and ending at the same TS and all being of the same voltage.


MR. REINMULLER:  I think you are referring to JT2.12.


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.


MR. REINMULLER:  And that summarizes the number of quads and three circuits, and I am not sure I understand your question fully, but these circuits originate between major stations and supply major load customers.


MR. MURRAY:  But are any similar to what I call the East-West Tie line where it goes -- rural area from one station to the other?  I imagine some of these stations, one of the four circuits may come from one station, two may come from a second station and kind of merge.


Are there any situations where all four circuits originate at one TS and terminate at a second TS?  At the same voltage?


MR. REINMULLER:  The Cherrywood and Clarington ones originate from one TS and terminate in the other TS.


MR. MURRAY:  And are they the same voltage, all the --


MR. REINMULLER:  They're all 230 kV circuits.


MR. MURRAY:  Are there any other supplies to that area, beyond...


MR. REINMULLER:  Not to the customers that these circuits serve.  The difference between these circuits, these are load-serving circuits.  The East-West Tie is a pass-through circuit.  So if you look at the East-West Tie, there is no customers connected off the line itself, right?  So there is a transfer, it is a highway we know, with no collectors or roads going in and out.  These other circuits I am referring to are like a highway with a bunch of exits that serve load.


MR. MURRAY:  Okay, thank you.


I am mindful, I believe my time is already over, so --


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  -- thank you very much, Madam Chair, for your indulgence.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  What I suggest we do is take the morning break for 20 minutes, and perhaps the panel could consider whether or not Ms. Croll has anything to add, given that she answered some questions I think on the topic of options, and then we will come back and do panel questions.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:20 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:43 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I have four areas which I propose to cover briefly in reply.  I don't know whether you want me to do that before or after the Board's questions.

MS. LONG:  Sorry.  Was there anything that Ms. Croll wanted to add in response to that question?

MS. COOPER:  No, thank you, we're fine.

MS. LONG:  I think what we will do, Mr. Warren, is we will have our panel questions first, and then invite you to do redirect.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  I am first.  I am going to direct most of my questions to the Board Staff Exhibit K4.2, just if you want to pull that up, and the different components.

Thank you.  I appreciate that.  I did not put a compendium together.

Development costs, the top line.  I understand that if Hydro One is not successful in getting approval for the leave to construct, Hydro One would not seek development costs.  But if you are the proponent, then you will be seeking recovery of these development costs?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, in accordance with evidence in our prefiled at Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1 on page 1.

MS. DUFF:  And the definition of what is in the development cost line versus the leave to construct, I mean, the fact that the Board's decision at one point was being -- was expected in 2019 led you to increase the development cost line.  Is that not true?

MR. SPENCER:  So, that is what I will refer to as a time shift.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  Originally, we were assuming October 2018 for a decision, now perhaps January 2019.

That time shift accounted for approximately $1.9 million of the increase.

MS. DUFF:  So what determines what is in this development cost line partly is the timing of this OEB decision and your incremental costs, those two factors?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  Those are the two largest contributing factors, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Do you have any development costs which you have incurred, but you have left out of this 16.972 million because of other reasons?

MR. SPENCER:  Nothing that we would be seeking recovery on, no.

MS. DUFF:  And these are all incremental costs, like third party costs I assume.  Ms. Croll, none of your staff and none of your salaries, the hundred people that work for you, none of those costs are in this?

MS. CROLL:  The costs are a combination of staff, labour and also consultants and subcontractors.

MS. DUFF:  There is an allocation of internal costs associated with this $16 million?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, for both development and construction.  So the labour costs of our own staff are included, yes.

MR. SPENCER:  So we have two methodologies for cost allocation.  Some of our staff will charge directly into this project, a work order number associated with the development phase.

And the other portion, which -- within Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 11, you will notice a line item that talks about overhead.  So those costs are for staff in the project who do not do project costing.  So functionally, these would be our regulatory, our finance, contributors, our management team.  So they would in fact be costs covered within that approximately $1.5 million.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine, thank you.  When I look at the leave-to-construct number, and we're talking about obviously through the park, the 624 million, what is the relevance of the evidence related to Hydro One's costs around the park?  That is not what you're seeking approval for in this application.

MR. SPENCER:  We were doing our best to respond to enquiries and interrogatories from proceeding members in this hearing.  But certainly our preference and our preferred alternative that we are pursuing is through the park.

MS. DUFF:  Just to be clear on it, this panel, we're not -- should I pay any attention to that last column.  Those are casual words, but what relevance is that to this panel, if that is not what you are applying for?

MR. SPENCER:  So I would suggest the relevance is one of sort of comparing -- even in our contingent scenario where we did have to go around the park, we are still, quickly doing the math, in the order of $90 million lower cost than the alternative, so still a substantial cost savings both on capital costs between the two alternatives.

But for purposes of our application, you know, the primary focus, as you allude to, we hope to be on the $624 million figure.

MS. DUFF:  In line number 12 in particular, the contingency, you had a conversation with Mr. Murray.

Now, this is the contingency that results from your risk register, would that be correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.  This $5.4 million is the Hydro One contingency which is not embedded within the EPC contract.

MS. DUFF:  And this do not exceed price, that is another type of contingency, that is another range above the contingency right here of 5.4 million.

Like, I was getting confused about the contingencies that you have baked into your price and this other subsequent event, do not exceed, which has yet to be approved by your board of directors.

How should this panel view that information of the 683 million?

MR. SPENCER:  So I would suggest, if we might turn up Hydro One's undertaking response from May of JT2.25 -- and as Mr. Buonaguro alluded to in his cross, the numbers are slightly different, but the principles are the same, as I turn this up.

So these are the, you know, for purposes of determining that upper window of our cost estimate, we have segmented it into the EPC fixed price contract, interest during construction and everything else.

So what we're suggesting with this price is that, you know, there may be things covered within the 683 price concept that could be owner-driven changes that may result in some slight uptick on the EPC contract.  We don't have anything envisioned right now.  We don't foresee any changes.

However, we are at the front end of this project.  So the consideration for up to a 5 percent allowance on that was really based on our general practice of contracting with constructors, as well as I may allude to the fact that consistent with the evidence NextBridge presented in terms of performance of their subcontractor, Valard, on other projects, that although today we don't have any foreseeable owner-driven changes that would put upward pressure on the $546 million, there may be something that comes up over the next three years.

So that 683 was intended to give a little bit of an upward allowance, if in fact those changes were driven from Hydro One's perspective.

MS. DUFF:  But you don't have a signed contract with SNC-Lavalin.  I mean, you don't have one today, right?

MR. SPENCER:  Well, only primarily, I would suggest, because we haven't yet received leave-to-construct approval.  If and when we do get to that point, we would certainly work to execute that agreement.

MS. DUFF:  So to the extent that you have not executed that agreement, the accuracy ranges minus three to plus five, that is a risk that is not in your bid price.  That is considered in addition.  That is external.  We are now in this category of coming up with the additional 676.

I'm just saying why would you not put that in your contingency?  Is that not on your risk register?

MR. SPENCER:  It's not.  So the risk register is to articulate known conditions that may materialize.  So we have no knowledge of anything that is going to put upward pressure on our EPC costs.

So the number has not changed since we filed in February.  Our evidence today is that the same EPC contract and terms and division of responsibility exists today, and there has been no change.

MS. DUFF:  And one of the other points of your evidence when you were talking about deferral accounts that may be needed -- because we're not dealing with the cost consequences.  I can pull it up, the options available to Hydro One you could apply for a deferral account, you could apply for an ICM.

I am just wondering, this legal entity, this new legal entity that you are thinking of establishing for this project, when would they be established?  I mean, is it that legal entity, from what I understand, the assets would actually be in the new legal entity.

MR. SPENCER:  So the entity for -- to have beneficial tax treatment would be needed to be created, and have the assets transferred prior to completion of the construction phase of the project.

MS. DUFF:  So Hydro One undertakes the construction.  The assets are on its book, it's construction work-in-progress.  Prior you need that new entity to be established before they go in-service and then they're transferred over?  Can you explain how that is going to work?

MR. SPENCER:  We do not need the entity to be established prior to in-servicing of the assets.  However, that is our intention, to minimize any tax consequence on transferring the assets at a subsequent time.

MS. DUFF:  Is there any OEB process with that, creating this new legal entity which will own these assets, be regulated, have an OM&A component to them?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe we would have to file for a cost-of-service application for that new company, for its ongoing operating and maintenance costs.

MS. DUFF:  Why now?  Why did you include that idea, this idea of this legal entity?  What are the benefits, aside from the tax-free, but, I mean, is there any other considerations that we should be aware of?  All of your other assets for transmission are in Hydro One Networks, so...

MR. SPENCER:  I guess the largest similar project would be the Bruce-to-Milton Limited Partnership, which, you know, essentially is the framework in which we're trying to follow on the LSL project, where the assets were in fact transferred to the limited partnership.  My apologies, I don't know if it was at the end of construction or, you know, after the construction period was completed, but in and around that time.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful.  No, that's helpful.  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure I wasn't missing anything.

Now, the other deferral account that you've raised in your evidence regarding equity participation -- and again, you are indicating the way I think you have presented it to this panel is that this would be one of our options.  Why did you mention it?  I mean, you could ask for a deferral account for anything.  That is always an option.  Is that not true?  Why highlight that particular one?  And what relevance should we place on that in our decision-making?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe the purpose of highlighting that deferral account was to have a back-stop in the event that we didn't have the equity agreement finalized prior to the point of asset transfer, so that the AUC could, in fact, make its -- we would be able to freeze interest during construction, declare the project complete, and then carry costs in that deferral account, and such time we were able to establish the partnership --


MS. DUFF:  Because Hydro One owns it, or this new legal entity, right?

MR. SPENCER:  That is a cleaner way of saying it, yes.

MS. DUFF:  And the operation, just again going back to K4.2, I am just working my way down the page, we are now in OM&A costs.  I think you had described the 1.5 million as incremental costs.

Could you just explain that to me?  So I have a new entity in which there is a service level agreement, so that between Hydro One and this new entity I am assuming the 1.5 million on this page is what you would expect the cost sharing to be, like, that is what this new entity will bear?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  So they will have allocated costs from Hydro One, the utility.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And they may incur some of their own costs with third parties, and this is the number of the --


MR. SPENCER:  If there were any costs -- let's hypothetically say there were some additional costs in the administration category -- we would in fact -- you know, those are largely labour costs.  And the individuals who would be contributing into that cost, if there was more of a cost to bear on the Lake Superior Link project, then there would also be an offset on the Hydro One Networks, that we would essentially hold the Hydro One Networks customers whole in accordance with the Affiliate Relationship Code.

So we would not be asking networks' customers to subsidize the Lake Superior Link partnership company in any way.

MS. DUFF:  I understand, I think I do, that this is for information only.  This Panel is not being made to -- asked to make a decision on OM&A costs.  It is a factor we may take into consideration, but really, these costs, there's no -- is there a decision-making element that you are looking for at this stage with respect to these OM&A costs?

MR. SPENCER:  We were trying to highlight what we view as the distinct differences between the two proposals before the Board largely on the construction phase.  We will of course return with a -- at a future hearing for the cost of service and recovery on our OM&A costs, but we did want to signal what we felt was a substantial customer benefit with the Hydro One proposal.

MS. DUFF:  I mean, we often have situations where there is a Panel hearing a case and there is subsequent -- like, four years down the road people said, what did the Board hear?  What did they take into consideration?  I guess that is why I was dividing out the different components of your application in your ask so that I understood what we are deciding and what was provided for other elements to be considered, but not necessarily into our decision-making.

MR. SPENCER:  That is a fair characterization, and certainly, be it four years or sooner down the road, I would anticipate that this marker of $1.5 million serves as the basis for conversation, and anything beyond that is, you know, certainly at risk of recovery from Hydro One's perspective.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  I wonder if I could continue on with Exhibit K4.2, and just following up on Staff's questions.

The 1.5 million that you put in for the OM&A costs, I think you referred to them earlier as incremental costs, but I understand your testimony with respect to development costs that in fact those development costs were fully allocated within the cost allocation definition.

Are the OM&A costs also fully allocated?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, they are.

MR. JANIGAN:  I note that -- my next question I would have is for Ms. Croll.  I believe you indicated earlier that you will be relying on the public record in the EA proceeding that NextBridge had filed.

Are there other materials or documents that are not on the public record that you will have to rely upon to proceed with an environmental assessment in accordance with your plan?

MS. CROLL:  No.  There are other documents that would be useful to us that are not publicly available, but we have reviewed what is publicly available and done our own GAAP analysis, and we feel we can complete our EA with what is publicly available.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, with respect to the matter of costs that are over the budget that you provided, I believe -- and Mr. Spencer, you indicated that such costs above the not-to-exceed price would be subject to a prudence test.  And I think that, as I read that, that the prudence test that you are suggesting sort of has two aspects to it.  One is the prudence of the expenditure itself, and secondly, whether or not the expenditure was foreseeable at the time that the budget was submitted.

Is that a fair estimate of the prudence test that you are suggesting?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, but I would like to clarify one point if I may.  We would suggest as Hydro One that the prudence test applies to any costs beyond our $643 -- sorry, $642 million figure, not just the upper bound of our cost estimate.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I don't quite understand that qualification.  You have the not-to-exceed price of 683 million.  So anything in between that would also be 642 million, and the 683 million would be subject to the same prudence test?

MR. SPENCER:  We believe it should be, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So it would have to be foreseeable and the expenditure would have to be prudent as an expenditure?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  And comparing that to your contingency amount that you built into this particular budget of 5,401,000, that contingency is -- is that associated with expenses that are not foreseeable as well?

MR. SPENCER:  So within the total project amount and the construction of $624.8 million, there is, of course, risk and contingency that is carried within the SNC-Lavalin contract.  So the difference between us and the other proponent before the Board is that they've carried it as a bottom line, where most of our contingency is in fact allocated within the categories above, so in accordance with the fixed price EPC.

The purpose of that risk and contingency is to account for things that ought to have been known.  And certainly based on the work that we've done to date, all of the engineering work and the project development work, the vast majority of costs and the underlying work that underpins those costs ought to have been known at the time of application.

So it is a fairly high standard that we would have to clear to demonstrate that there was something that was not -- ought to have been known by the applicant.

MR. JANIGAN:  But in order to have approval of those contingency costs, do you have to show foreseeability?  Or is that just something built in as something that could be claimed?

MR. SPENCER:  So certainly within the contract that we have with SNC-Lavalin, there is language that articulates what allowable changes may be.  And as the owner of -- we have to authorize all changes that may come through, and certainly the criteria we would be looking at is if SNC did come forward with a claim, is it something that ought to have been known at the time of committing the contract.  And to my previous statement, there is a lot of work that has been done, and therefore a lot of cost risks and schedule risks that should be known when the contract is in fact committed.

So it would be a very high bar for SNC-Lavalin to clear so that Hydro One would in fact authorize a change from an EPC perspective.

MR. JANIGAN:  Finally, I have been looking over the framework for the transmission project development plans, the Board policy that goes back to EB-2010-0059, and there's a couple of things of development costs in that -- and you don't need to turn this up, but I will tell you what my concern is.

It seems to suggest -- and I don't say that the panel has adopted this interpretation, but it seems to suggest two things about development costs.  One is that the designated transmitter is limited in development costs up to the time of the leave-to-construct application, and secondly, that an undesignated transmitter has to absorb its own development costs.

I am not asking you to respond to that in terms of policy.  But I was wondering, if that interpretation was sustained, what effect that might have on your application.

MR. SPENCER:  Well, I guess carrying through with this scenario here, the theory would be that we would not be able to recover our development costs of approximately $17 million.  I might suggest that a portion of that could be segmented between the phase shifting of the approximately  $1.9 million, so we may want to give consideration to the impact that had within the timing of the leave-to-construct approval.

But -- and I suspect you are also familiar with it, in our prefiled evidence at Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, in the first page and a half of that exhibit we outline why we feel that in fact, consistent with the Board's policy, that the development costs would in fact be applicable for recovery on our part as the transmitter, if we were able to demonstrate and I will probably not get this -- can we go to page 1 of this exhibit, please?

One of the tests for that would, of course, be that the proposal that we have brought forward was, in fact, to the benefit of customers with a lower cost solution.

Bear with me, if we can scroll down -- up a little.  The four points referenced there substantially lower costs to complete the project, which we have heard much evidence on.

Sorry, this isn't the right reference.

MR. JANIGAN:  I think that's okay.  I understand there is a position you are going to advance with respect to that.  I am just wondering, in the event the panel ruled in a certain direction, it is not fatal to your leave-to-construct application?

MR. SPENCER:  No.  We would view it as unfortunate for our application, however not fatal.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Spencer, you had quite a discussion this morning with Mr. Murray about the not-to-exceed price.  And as I understand it, that not-to-exceed price has not been approved by your board and will probably not be approved by your board, or even considered by your board until November, so following your October 16th board meeting; not in time for us to consider it as part of this application.

So can you help me with that?  I am just wondering what reliance or what weight this Panel should put on a not-to-exceed price that has not been approved by your board.

MR. SPENCER:  I do not have the personal authority to bind us contractually to that upper bound.  However, myself and all of the panel members, I hope we have tried to explain as best we can why the costs that we have submitted for the 642 are in fact what we feel that the project should be funded at, and we can deliver this project at $642 million.

We've done our best to approximate what an upward range may look like.  If in fact we look within the estimated ranges of our project, our commitment is to deliver this for 642 and be subject to the Board's review on any exceedance beyond that amount.

So today, and likely before final arguments are due, we will not have a Hydro One board commitment to the not-to-exceed price.

However, all of the evidence put before this application and the testimony from these panel members, we are confident we can deliver this for 642.

MS. LONG:  One ever the questions that I am going to ask you -- and I will ask NextBridge when they're up -- one of the caveats that you have for your not-to-exceed price is in respect to conditions put on by regulatory agencies, and I think you qualified this morning that that was meant to cover things that were not foreseeable.

But have you thought about that, given this leave to construct is not your average leave to construct and that you have two applicants putting forward applications, that the conditions that this Board may put on a leave to construct may be different than what you have seen in the past?

So have you taken that into account?  I mean, I would hope that that would not void a leave to construct, because I think both parties can reasonably anticipate that there may be some conditions in there with respect to timing, with respect to other things that you may not have seen in past leave-to-construct applications.

So I guess I am asking does that void the leave to construct, or do you think it is foreseeable given that I have kind of given you warning now that there may be these conditions?

MR. SPENCER:  It would not void our leave-to-construct application and, subject to better understanding what the conditions may be, certainly we would be happy to comply with them if granted leave.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I think those are all of our questions.  Ms. Cooper, Mr. Warren, you have some redirect, I understand.
Re-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, just four areas.  The first area I want to deal with appears in the October 2nd transcript.

Mr. Karunakaran, these were questions that were put to you and to your colleague, Mr. Pinto, by Mr. Murphy.  It had to do with the question - the double-sided question, if you wish, of galloping distance between structures and compliance with the OEB's requirements, technical requirements with respect to galloping.

Mr. Murphy asked this question:  
"You don't you believe you have a heavier structure to stop single-loop galloping for the entire span?”

Mr. Pinto replied, 
"No, because there are other ways to mitigate or control the galloping.”

Then Mr. Murphy quickly moved on to another subject.

What are the other ways to mitigate or control galloping?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay.  So there's many different ways to address a galloping condition on a transmission line.  So the geometry of the structure is one primary concern that you give to, and in the same -- in papers that have been authored by the same author, Mr. Harvard, that was put forward on the CIGRE papers that are there and in accordance with the CIGRE guidelines, there is a number of control measures that can be put in place.  Some of these are things such as interface spaces, you know, amongst other control units and so forth that are there.

So our intent is that we've designed these structures to meet with the requirements of the single-loop galloping that is outlined in the OEB specifications.  The geometry has been set for a certain span distance, and for anything beyond that we would have one of these control measures that are employed where we need to -- in short, it is in compliance with the OEB requirements.

MR. WARREN:  My second area of question goes to you, Mr. Reinmuller, and this arises from a series of questions that were asked.  They appear in the October 4th transcript, beginning at page 140.  They were questions posed by my friend Ms. DeMarco, and she asked whether or not Hydro One Networks was aware of, among other things, lost frozen meat, frozen blueberries, frozen fish, and frozen insulin as a result of unreliable service.

Mr. Reinmuller, are you familiar with those issues, and what, if any, steps has Hydro One taken to address those concerns?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes, I am aware of those issues, and just for everybody's knowledge, Ms. DeMarco and Anwaatin communities has worked very closely with Hydro One this year in particular.

This was relevant to the motion to review and vary that was before the Board, and there was a settlement struck this June 2018, I believe June 15th, 2018.  And as a result of that settlement, Hydro One is constructing a battery storage facility on one of the remote communities north of Long Lac.

Also in addition to that particular undertaking, there were a few communities that were suffering with a lower reliability in Anwaatin communities, and one of which has now a dual line supply.  That is in the Moosonee area, which is probably about 5-, 600 kilometres away from this very area we are discussing today.  So it's not in direct relationship with this project, but that community is served now by a dual line supply.

And in reference to the Anwaatin community in general, in terms of reliability only, the 230 kV supply line that we're discussing today is relatively separated from the direct impact that the northwest system has on Anwaatin communities.

In other words, the loss of this circuit would not directly impact the reliability of the Anwaatin communities.  They're supplying mainly on 44, 28 kV, 13 kV supplies that have other supplies going into the area.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Reinmuller.

My last question, Mr. Karunakaran, relates to an exchange that you had with Mr. Stephenson that appears in the October 3rd transcript, and it begins at page 131.  And the burden of Mr. Stephenson's question to you had, as I understood it, dealt with the issue of construction schedules and risks that might be entailed in a particular construction schedule and what mitigation measures would be available for them.

Could you, please, indicate what the construction schedule would be, what the risk factors are, and what the mitigation measures would be?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay.  So associated with the construction of this project there are certain seasonal constraints that come into play, particularly around the clearing of the transmission line right-of-way.

As I had mentioned at that time, being the first activity to kick off, this is something that's typically done in the fall of a year, and it addresses some of the issues around species at risk as an example of one of the constraints that come into play.

Trying to do works outside of that time zone, whilst being possible, right, through the costs associated with certain control measures and so on such as spotters and the like, doesn't actually eliminate that risk.  So you could still proceed ahead, start clearing a section of the line, have a spotter in play.  If they run across one of these species at risk you're going to end up in a scenario where you get stopped.  You have got to do a move-around.  You have got to move to another section, keep working, and then there is a remobilization cost to move back and clear that once you are outside of that seasonal constraint window.

It is for those reasons that I had said at the time our schedule is set to actually comply with those seasonal constraints and requirements, and we see it being far too risky to try and take something on without compliance with that.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my reply questions, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, panel, for your evidence.  You are excused.

Mr. Zacher, your panel is here?

MR. ZACHER:  They are, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, I think what we will do is we'll just break for five minutes to do an exchange of the panels and then get your witnesses sworn.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:19 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:26 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, can you introduce your witnesses?

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Starting furthest away from me is Mr. Ahmed Maria, who is director of transmission system planning and his area of responsibility will be transmission system planning and applicable standards.

Next to Mr. Maria is Mr. Chuck Farmer, who is the IESO's director of resource planning, and he will address economic issues and other resource considerations.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Panel, I am going to swear both of you in at the same time.  
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Ahmed Maria, 

Chuck Farmer; Affirmed

MS. LONG:  Mr. Zacher, as I understand it, you are not leading any evidence-in-chief and the panel is ready for cross-examination.

MR. ZACHER:  They are, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Warren, I have you first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panel, I have only a very few questions for you.

Madam Chair, the June 29th, 2018, update; I believe it is an exhibit in this proceeding, but I don't remember what the number is.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Warren, I believe it is on the record.  It hasn't been marked specifically as an exhibit during the oral hearing.

MR. WARREN:  Might it then, Madam Chair, be marked as an exhibit?  It is the June 29th, 2018, addendum to the 2017 updated assessment for the need for the East-West Tie expansion; that is what it is called.

MS. LONG:  Can we mark that, Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K 4.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "JUNE 29TH, 2018, ADDENDUM TO THE 2017 UPDATED ASSESSMENT FOR THE NEED FOR THE EAST-WEST TIE EXPANSION "

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I presume you are familiar with the document I am referring to?

MR. FARMER:  We are.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, you have forgotten more in the last five minutes more than I know about transmission system planning, so bear with me in my ignorance.

My understanding of the factors affecting supply in the northwestern part of the province are the following. One is the growth, or the absence of growth in demand; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Second is demand response, is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  Well, demand response is a supply resource that is used to meet the demand.  So it is not a factor in and of itself.  It would be part of the available supply.

MR. WARREN:  A third consideration are firm imports from Manitoba; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  So the things you are describing would be options that would be available to make up the difference between our available supply in the northwest and our ability to meet demand.  So there is a gap that is emerging now between our ability to serve the needs of the northwest and be compliant with the standard.

So available imports would be an option, as would incremental demand response, or re-contracting with facilities that are coming off, or even citing temporary generation.

MR. WARREN:  Let's just deal with firm imports for a moment, if we can.  Is it only Manitoba, or are there US sources of supply as well?

MR. FARMER:  It could come from MISO as well.

MR. WARREN:  And MISO is?

MR. FARMER:  It is a big planning region of which Manitoba is actually part, but it could come through Minnesota, or it could come through Manitoba on the Manitoba tie.

MR. WARREN:  An additional factor, as you've mentioned, are contract extensions with existing suppliers in the northwest?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And is that one and the same as local generation in the northwest, or are they different factors?

MR. FARMER:  Those would be different things.  So the ability to re-contract or re-procure through some kind of competitive process with an existing facility would be something that would happen when, for example, there is an expiry of a contract towards the end of 2022 with a NUG; there is another one in 2023.  They're about 40 megawatts each.  Then there is the Atikokan generating station.

When those expire, if we're still in need, if the East-West Tie is not in service, then we could -- they could participate in a competitive process.  We had originally considered the Thunder Bay generating station to also be an option, but the Thunder Bay generating station is no longer in service.

MR. WARREN:  I wanted to understand if there is a distinction between existing contracts for generation and local climatic, weather conditions.  The availability of water supply, is that a factor?

MR. FARMER:  That is, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Is that a factor for the existing contracts, or just generally for the availability of supply?

MR. FARMER:  That is a factor on the availability of supply.  Much of the resource available to generate electricity in the northwest is hydro, and as hydro run on river resources, they're very subject to the water conditions.

MR. WARREN:  And finally, the final factor in effecting reliable supply would be the existing East-West Tie, is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, am I correct in understanding that at least to 2019, the IESO has been able to manage the needs in the northwest without resort to any of the additional factors, Manitoba contract, is that correct?

MR. MARIA:  So you are asking to 2019, are we able to -- so as you are aware, in 2019 we were initially counting on Thunder Bay GS being available.  But since then, they have announced that they're shutting down.  Even with that, we believe we can still manage the reliability of the system with -- through operational measures.

MR. WARREN:  If I could ask you to turn up what is now marked as Exhibit 4.4, and I am going to ask you to go first to page 3 of 6.

I am interested in your choice of language in here.  Actually, beginning on page 2 of 6 and continuing on the next page, you talk about firm import capability from Manitoba.  Is the Board to understand that Manitoba includes the US as well?

MR. FARMER:  The import capability from Manitoba, I believe, is the capability to move energy across the inter-tie with Manitoba.

MR. WARREN:  I understand that.  But you used the word Minnesota, but I understand your earlier answer to be something called MISO, which is includes somewhat more than Manitoba, is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  What you have said there, if I quote it, 
"It would not be known until the time of negotiation and the price could increase -- be increased by the short commitment period and the reduced competition due to the size of the small market, the northwest market, that it could or could not.”  

Is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. WARREN:  The quote is:  
"The cost of firm import capability from Manitoba is uncertain.  It would not be known until the time of negotiation and the price could be increased by the short commitment period and reduced competition due to the small size of the northwest market.”

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  The word "could" means it might not increase.  Is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.  As with our assessment with all of the costs of the potential resources that could fill the gap, we have used a standard approach to estimating those and the actual process that we go through would determine the actual price.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I go to the next page, page 3 of 6, the first bullet item at the top of the page, I quote:  "Extending contracts for select facilities could be considered,” and then further down, "However, there could be a mismatch between how long the IESO would need the facility to run to meet the need and the facility owner's required commitment period for reacquiring the facility, which could contribute to additional costs."

So, there are three "coulds" in that paragraph.  There could be a mismatch which could contribute to additional costs.  But there might not be a mismatch, and it might not contribute to additional costs.  Fair?

MR. FARMER:  That is fair.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now when I look through this document -- and correct me if I am missing something -- I don't see any information at all about increases in demand in the period from 2020 to 2022.  Have I missed something?

MR. FARMER:  No, you haven't missed something.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I then -- in light of the language that we have just talked about, the could and could not, I would like you to turn back to page 1 of 6.  In the second full paragraph, it says:  
"The IESO continues to recommend an in-service date of 2020 for the East-West Tie expansion.  If the in-service date is delayed beyond 2020, using interim measures to manage the need will result in additional costs."

How do you get to "will result", given the coulds that we just talked about?

MR. FARMER:  So the increased costs being referenced there would be the need to procure the interim measures necessary to maintain the reliability of the northwest system.  It doesn't refer to the coulds, which I believe in the context you played the question were to deal with the amount of the cost.

MR. WARREN:  But as I had understood it, you said that it will be an increase in costs.  But given the factors that we talked about before, there might not be increases in costs, for example, from Manitoba or from local contracting supplies.  Fair?

MR. FARMER:  There will be an increasing cost over what we're currently experiencing, because we have no import arrangement with Manitoba or MISO, and we have not extended contracts with anybody.  So the increase is over our current cost levels.

MR. WARREN:  But the contract, as I understood your answer before, the contracts don't expire until 2022; is that right?

MR. FARMER:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So there won't be any increase in contract price between now and 2022; is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  Not on those facilities; that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the final two areas of questions I have, or three areas, one is, if you turn up page 4 of 6 -- it is actually referred to on page 3 of 6.  As I understand it, you say at the top of page 4 of 6:

"All of this uncertainty creates a risk that the IESO may not be able to acquire the needed capacity beyond the end of 2022."

You then say:

"As such the IESO's assessment that the East-West Tie expansion should not be delayed beyond the end of 2022..."

I take it -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that what the IESO is saying is that it can manage a supply, albeit perhaps at a cost, up until 2022, but beyond that there is a problem.  Fair?

MR. FARMER:  I believe what the statement is is that our comfort with allowing the northwest system to be managed by interim measures gets much greater, our discomfort gets much greater as we move through time, and as you get to 2023, if you refer to figure 1 on page 2 of 6, you can see that the jump in the capacity requirement is quite considerable as you start to lose existing generators from their contracts.

MR. WARREN:  And I don't know that you need to turn it up, but in response to Interrogatory No.7 from NextBridge, you said:

"It is the IESO's opinion that within the range of costs outlined that will require incremental, incremental capacity could likely be acquired during 2021 and '22."

Is that fair?  That is an accurate statement?

MR. FARMER:  Can you remind me of the interrogatory?

MR. WARREN:  Interrogatory response number 7.

MR. FARMER:  To NextBridge?

MR. WARREN:  That is posed by NextBridge.

MR. FARMER:  May I ask you to repeat the question?

MR. WARREN:  The question is, I take it that is a true statement, that within the range of costs outlined the required incremental capacity could be acquired during 2021 and '22?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Second-to-last question, if you could turn back to Exhibit K4.4 at page 4 of 6.  I want to understand -- there is a table there, Table 1.  And you have got in the columns on the right projected cost, and then you've got projected cost range.

Am I correct in understanding that for 2021 your projection is that the costs may be as low as $8 million and as high as 23-; is that correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And for 2022 as low as $9 million and as high as $27 million.

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, sir, I haven't looked at this for a long time, for which I apologize -- I forget what the statutory policy mandate of the IESO is.  Am I correct in understanding that the obligation of the IESO is to obtain a supply of electricity, adequate supply of electricity, at the lowest reasonable cost.  Is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  I believe that is fair, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And in order to accomplish that mandate of achieving electricity at the lowest reasonable cost, among other things you rely on competition?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Murphy will be asking these questions on behalf of NextBridge.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murphy:

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  My name is Brian Murphy and I will be asking you questions on behalf of NextBridge.  I have two IRs that you responded to that I will be questioning you on.  The first one is your response to IR 15.  So let me know when you get there.

I see interim measures that you were having a discussion with Mr. Warren about.  Here I just want to confirm to begin with a couple of statements that you made, and that the procurement of firm imports would take up to two years to secure.

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  And you also talked about new bilateral contracts with generators, and that would take up to 18 months.

MR. FARMER:  Yes, it would, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Obtaining the firm capacity that you are talking about in response to this IR for the East-West Tie, it is when it is not in-service you don't have all four in service after 2020?  So all four lines in service that you are expecting in 2020 you would procure because you only have two lines in service, the existing.

MR. MARIA:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, here what I want to do is bring you to the two-week outage that Hydro One, if selected, plans to have in the park.

I understand you didn't estimate a cost for that, but I think the same logic holds that you would need to procure capacity for a period of time in and around that two-week outage because the existing East-West Tie would not be in-service.  Do you agree with that?

MR. MARIA:  So, no, I don't agree with that.  What we would do for that two-week outage is try to schedule it at a time where there is sufficient capacity in the northwest to meet the expected demand at the time.

So as Chuck mentioned, a lot of the resources there are hydroelectric.  Sometimes there is low water, sometimes there is high water, so we would try to -- and sometimes demand there is low, sometimes it is high.  So we would try to schedule this two-week outage at a time where we don't need to procure any capacity to meet it.

MR. MURPHY:  So thank you for that clarification, and we will stay with that.

So today you wouldn't know what the conditions are going to be two years from now on demand in that area, correct?

MR. MARIA:  I would say that's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  So usually in my experience outages like that are scheduled and confirmed maybe a month out, maybe a couple of weeks out.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. MARIA:  So at the IESO we have a process where we could provide advance approval eight months out even.  But generally you are correct, these outages are approved around that time frame.

MR. MURPHY:  So it could, to your point, it could move based on your forecast, based on demand in that region, it could move weeks or it could move a month or so or...

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  So the next IR I would like to take you to is number 22, which is your response to NextBridge, 22.  And part of the reason I am asking these kind of premise questions is just to educate folks so we know what we're talking about.

Here, my understanding is that you ran a typical system planning model similar to a TPL-001-4 NERC reliability standard to see whether taking all four circuits out would cause a reliability issue.

Is that how you reached the conclusion they would not violate NERC standard?

MR. MARIA:  So, no.  The reason we're say that the four-circuit tower would not violate NERC standards is because in the NERC standards we don't have to respect that particular contingency when planning the system.  So --


MR. MURPHY:  You don't have to respect that contingency because it is not currently at the bulk electric system level?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MARIA:  No.  Even -- so it's -- so that area is part of the NERC -- is covered by NERC standards.  It is part of the bulk electric system.  But in that NERC standard there is no requirement to plan the system to withstand the loss of the four circuits.

MR. MURPHY:  But there is a requirement to consider the loss of the circuits and whether that creates instability on the system, or overloading beyond system limits of other transmission elements, for which it is not quote-unquote a violation, but you have to have mitigation measures?

MR. MARIA:  I would say that what we need to do is simulate the contingency, understand the consequences, but we don't need to make any investment decisions or plan the system accordingly.


MR. MURPHY:  You don't -- as a transmission planner to the system, you run a model based on the assumptions of what is in service today, load expectancy, what generations and their contract or that you expect to be in service.


Where I am trying to go to is my understanding of these models, and generally I'm fairly familiar with them, is that you are basing it on today's world.  You cannot foresee what will happen in five or ten years, right?


This is not a probabilistic model that takes generation in and out.  It is based on the generation you know today.


MR. MARIA:  And what we expect to be available in the future.


MR. MURPHY:  Yeah, what you expect.  But if a large generator retires in five years and you run that model, the results could be different?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.  So I guess just to summarize, what we would do is we would set up a model based on what we expect the future conditions to be.  We would run the contingencies that we need to run per the planning standards, which doesn't include the four-circuit loss.  And then, based on that, we would make recommendations for investments that are required -- or that we would identify capacity gaps and make recommendations for how to meet that capacity gap.


So in that analysis, the contingencies that we would look at would be the loss of two circuits, but it wouldn't be the loss of four circuits.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  My last set of questions is a little bit of operations, a little bit of planning.


Just to level-set, my definition of a highly looped or network transmission grid includes the ability of transmission to be feeding into distribution at different points in the system.


So you could take transmission elements out, but there are sufficient transmission that in a highly networked area, that load is not going to be lost, reliability is not going to be subject to any violations because of multiple feeds from transmission.


Is that generally an acceptable definition for you?  Or would you say it another way?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.  So if you have a highly networked system, there usually is enough redundancy that you wouldn't lose load if you have one element out.


MR. MURPHY:  Again in my world, I think of large cities generally having highly networked systems.  Is that the case in your world?


MR. MARIA:  So in large cities?  So generally how networked the system needs to be is really governed by the reliability standards we need to meet.  So we need to look at how many outages we need to plan for, and we need to make sure if those outages occur, there is still sufficient supply to load in the area, and that there is essentially sufficient supply to load in the area.


So if there is more load, we need more circuits.  If there is less load, we need less circuits.


MR. MURPHY:  And in that highly looped or network grid, having quad circuits or more, five circuits on a tower, you are more likely to survive that because you have multiple ways to continue the electricity of flow to the distribution system and to the customers.  As a general rule, would you agree with that?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MARIA:  Sorry, can you repeat the question one more time?


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, certainly.  So we're in a world where it is highly networked, likely near a big city, and you have multiple feeds from transmission to your distribution substations on to your customers.


In that world, from a practical standpoint, transmission and operations, it is not as concerning to have quad circuit towers because unexpected -- there is an issue, tornado or for whatever reason, a tower goes down, you have other ways to continue and have the electricity fed to those customers in a highly networked transmission grid.


MR. MARIA:  So I would say that our experience with four-circuit towers is very limited.  And it is not -- that's not really a consideration in planning.


I think in planning, it doesn't really distinguish between a four-circuit tower and two double circuit lines. So I would say that from my perspective, that wouldn't be a consideration when I plan the system.


MR. MURPHY:  When you talk to your operators, they would be -- they would have more comfort with more redundancy than less.  Isn't that a fair statement?


MR. MARIA:  I don't want to speak for the operators.  I am not sure.  I would say that --


MR. MURPHY:  I don't want to put you in a box, you know.  This is a world I am used to, so planners and operators talking to each other.  So you are sure your operators would want minimal redundancy, which planning standards are designed for.  They're not designed for multiple redundancies.


MR. MARIA:  I guess the reason I am having trouble answering that question is I am not sure if four circuits provides less redundancy -- four circuits on one tower provides less redundancy than two circuits on one tower and two circuits on another.


I am not completely clear on that point, so that is why I can't answer that question.


MR. MURPHY:  I will try it another way and if it doesn't work, you just let me know.


A tower with four circuits, if you have seen them, the tower collapses, all four circuits are going down, it is going to create a fall.  The breaker is going to open at the substations.  There is going to be no electricity flying on any of those circuits.


In a two-parallel lines with double circuits, tower collapse, one.  Circuit goes down.  They're in two different breakers, right, in the substations.  You still have electricity flowing on the other two circuits that are unaffected by the tower collapse.


My common sense experience is that operators would much rather be in that situation than in a one where all four circuits are down.


MR. MARIA:  So I would say probably it would depend on the configuration of the two circuits on the two different towers.


If they're close together, that is different than if they're further apart.  There's probably a lot of considerations like that.


So generally, I can't respond to that.  But it would be -- maybe on a case-by-case basis, one could be preferred over the other.


MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are all of my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Murray, do you have a time estimate?


MR. MURRAY:  I would think I may be close to somewhere between 20 and 30 minutes, I suspect.


MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses feel they can do 20 to 30 minutes?  I think if we do Board Staff now, it may give other parties time over the lunch break to consider what questions they have.


So that being said, why don't you proceed?


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Once again, panel, good afternoon.  My name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to Board Staff.


I would like to start our discussion here today by pulling up one of the interrogatory responses you gave to NextBridge, and it would be NextBridge 22.


Now, in this question, the IESO was asked whether Hydro One's proposed use of the quad circuit through Pukaskwa National Park negatively impacted reliability, and I would like to focus on the answer.


First, I would like to focus on the first sentence. 

"Hydro One's proposed four-circuit line in the park complies with NERC, NPCC, and ORTAC planning standards.  As long as Hydro One's meets the conditions set out in the system impact assessment, Hydro One's proposed Lake Superior Link project will not have an adverse effect to reliability.”

Now, just stopping there, given that both Hydro One and NextBridge received a completed system impact assessment or SIA from IESO, is it fair to say that IESO does not have any concerns with the reliability for either proposal, to the extent that the system impact conditions are actually adhered to?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now focus on the second sentence.

"From an operating perspective, based on the IESO's limited experience with four-circuit towers in the North West, it is difficult to assess whether and to what extent it may be less reliable than the two separate double-circuit line alternative."

I want to focus on the first part of that sentence, "Based on the IESO's limited experience with four circuit towers in the northwest ...”


As far as I understand, this will be the first four circuit tower in the northwest, if the Hydro One application were approved; is that correct?


MR. MARIA:  Yes, to my knowledge it will be a first.


MR. MURRAY:  And it is already part of the evidence, but my understanding is that there is a number of three-, four-, or even six-circuit towers in other parts of the province.  Is that accurate?


MR. MARIA:  Yes, that's accurate.


MR. MURRAY:  So I just want to focus on the beginning of that sentence, where you talk about having limited experience with four-circuit towers in the northwest.  Is there a reason why -- or unique challenges in the northwest which make kind of looking at what's happened with three-, four-, and six-circuit towers in other parts of the province, that that isn't necessarily the comparison?


MR. MARIA:  So one that comes to my mind is in the northwest we typically operate to what we call storm limits.  So if we have a thunderstorm over the lines, we expect the loss of two circuits instead of one.  Normally in operations we expect a loss of one circuit on the East-West Tie.  Under storm conditions we would then expect the loss of two.


So that is something that is unique to the northwest that we don't have in southern Ontario, as an example.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus on the second part of the sentence now:

"It is difficult to assess whether, and to what extent, it may be less reliable than two separate double-circuit line alternative."

I appreciate that might be difficult to assess and you may have limited experience in the northwest, but does the IESO believe that the four-circuit tower proposed through Pukaskwa National Park would be less reliable than the two-tower alternative proposed by NextBridge?


MR. MARIA:  So if the SIA conditions are met we don't believe -- we're comfortable we can reliably operate the system with the four-circuit tower through the park, if those SIA conditions are met, and --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry to interrupt, but if they are met you can operate reliably?  But will it be -- does IESO have any reason to believe it would be less reliable than the two-circuit alternative?


MR. MARIA:  So you would notice that in the SIA for the Lake Superior Link we had different requirements than for the -- in the SIA for NextBridge, and the reason for that is that -- it is mostly due to our limited experience with a four-circuit tower in the northwest that we put those extra requirements for restoration plan that don't exist in the other SIA.


So in our opinion, by having those conditions we now feel comfortable that we have brought everything on a level playing field from the perspective of reliability and that we can operate both solutions reliably.


MR. MURRAY:  I just want to follow up on that.  I think you sort of somewhat answered my next question.  But does the IESO expect it would have to operate the system differently if Hydro One's Lake Superior Link is granted approval as opposed to NextBridge?


MR. MARIA:  So right now our expectation is that we wouldn't, but for example in the thunderstorms, if we find out that a thunderstorm can take out three circuits instead of two, then we may need to operate a little bit differently.  But for now our expectation is that we wouldn't.


MR. MURRAY:  And to the extent that you did in that example you gave, you are not currently contemplating taking out, say, three or four circuits or operating the system for that contingency now.  But if in the future that does become a reality and so you need to do certain alternative measures, are there costs associated with those measures?


MR. MARIA:  I think what we would likely do is, there could be costs.  If we have to expect the loss of three circuits instead of two in a thunderstorm, for example, there would be costs, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Could you give us a sense of, is there any ballpark you gave in terms of what those costs would be?


MR. MARIA:  So those costs would be of the nature of, say we have abundance of hydroelectric generation in the northwest and we need to constrain it down because of reduced limit on the East-West Tie because we're expecting loss of three circuits instead of two, so the costs would be -- the cost to reduce that less expensive hydroelectric generation and increase more expensive generation, say, southern Ontario or the northeast.


So the costs would be of that nature.  I don't have a number, but it will be -- those are the types of costs that we would incur if that situation happened.


MR. MURRAY:  Over ae year, could those costs run into the millions?  Or is it just too hard to tell?


MR. MARIA:  Yeah, I wouldn't be able to give you a number.


MR. MURRAY:  And if ultimately operating the system it became clear that even there was a risk of all four circuits going down, not just three, but four, is the IESO able to develop some sort of contingency in those sort of extreme thunderstorm situations to take all four circuits out of service?


MR. MARIA:  So in a situation where -- okay, so this is not the expected mode of operation, but in a situation where in operations we have to expect the loss of all four circuits, we would appropriately dispatch generation within the northwest to make sure that we can stay within the limits.


So right now we have -- right now this is a condition that we do -- we do operate to.  We have two circuits connecting the northwest to the rest of Ontario, and under storm conditions we expect a loss of those two circuits.


So what we do to actually operate the system while expecting that contingency is by re-dispatching generation in a manner that allows us to ensure if that contingency did happen there would be no overload voltage collapse or anything like that.


MR. MURRAY:  Now, going back to once again not northwest Ontario but to the extent you have any information, are you aware of any situations where there's been more than a momentary loss of four circuits in another part of the province due to lightning strikes?


MR. MARIA:  I am not aware of any.


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move and talk about NextBridge IR 24, so if we could have that pulled up on the screen.  In this interrogatory the IESO was asked to provide -- was asked a series of questions about potential load loss, and I would like to focus on the response, so if we can scroll down to the bottom of the page, the response in part (e).  And I am going to read from the third sentence, line 29, starting "furthermore":

"Furthermore, since the system is planned to be adequate while respecting the loss of a double-circuit line, load should not be lost for an extended period of time if only two circuits are out of service.  If all circuits are out of service, load may be at risk, depending upon generation levels, load levels, and available imports into the area."


Can you explain what the potential impact would be for customers in the northwest if there was a situation where there was a collapse of a tower in the park and all four circuits went down.  What would happen to electricity supply in the northwest?


MR. MARIA:  So under normal conditions there is an abundance of hydro supply in the northwest, and so typically there wouldn't be a load loss in that situation.  However, what this particular statement is talking about is a situation that we planned for, which is a drill condition in the northwest and high demand.


In that scenario, if the tower fell down and we lost all four circuits, the impact to the customers in the northwest would be that they would be interrupted until we can secure alternate supply, which could come from Manitoba or from Minnesota, or by maybe bringing up generation that is available.


MR. MURRAY:  Do you have any sense of how long that would take?  I guess, are we talking minutes?  Hours?  Days?


MR. MARIA:  It would depend on the situation in Manitoba.  For example, if we're going to rely on imports from Manitoba it would depend on the situation in Manitoba. But I -- it could be hours.


MR. MURRAY:  And if the four circuits in Pukaskwa National Park were to go down, is there any implications for electricity supply to the rest of the province?  Not the northwest now, focusing on the rest of the province, would there be any implications there?


MR. MARIA:  So the implication could be -- I don't believe there would be an adequacy concern or a supply concern.  But the implication could be that lower cost generation from the northwest is being replaced by more expensive generation in the south -- like, that would probably be the implication.


MR. MURRAY:  And that would last for the hours or days or however long it would take to restore the four circuits?


MR. MARIA:  That's right.


MR. MURRAY:  The last area I would like to cover -- so I would like to talk a little bit about August 2020.  Now, I believe the IESO is aware, but Hydro One is proposing that the existing east-west transmission line be put out of service for two weeks in August 2020; is that correct?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And is it fair that Hydro One needs the approval of the IESO before it can take the line out of service; is that correct?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Is it fair to say that this outage needs to be planned well in advance, given that you have to line up alternative supply or other conditions to ensure that there is no lack of electricity?


MR. MARIA:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Is it also fair to say that these types of outages can only occur at certain times of year?


MR. MARIA:  Yes, I would say so.


MR. MURRAY:  And I also understand that sometimes these kind of planned outages, if the water levels aren't high enough in the northwest, or there isn't the alternative supply you thought there would be, that sometimes they have to be cancelled.  Is that fair?


MR. MARIA:  Yes, that is fair.


MR. MURRAY:  So if it's a two-week outage that's currently being planned or proposed for August 2020, if ultimately some sort of condition where that couldn't go ahead, it had to be cancelled, if that happened, can you give us a sense of when the next likely two-week window would be?


I guess what I can say is are we looking at maybe slightly later in August?  September?  Or are we looking –at one point are we looking at 2021?


MR. MARIA:  Just one minute.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MARIA:  So I guess that would depend on why the outage was delayed in the first place and the conditions that resulted in the outage being -- sorry, it would depend on the conditions that resulted in the outage being cancelled.  If it is due to a drought, then it would depend on the duration of the drought.  If it is due to high demand, it would be when we expected demand to come down.


MR. MURRAY:  Does the IESO have a general, to the extent that this outage was to occur in 2020, is there sort of a drop-dead time period in terms of September or October?  At what point would are we not looking at 2020 anymore, it would have to be 2021?


MR. MARIA:  I don't know.


MR. MURRAY:  And the last question I have is, given the IESO's experience in managing outages, if Hydro One was granted leave to construct in this matter, can you give us a sense of the likelihood that this August 2020 two-week outage would actually proceed in August 2020?


MR. MARIA:  So one of the reasons why we put it as a condition in the SIA for giving us two years lead time is because we know it is very complicated to plan an outage like this one.  It requires a lot of coordination, a lot of rescheduling of other outages.


So our expectation is that with this two-year lead time, there is a good chance it could happen and that is why we put that condition in the SIA.


But of course there's always factors we can't control and that might cause the delay.  But putting this condition in the SIA improves the chances that it will happen, and that is why we did that.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are all Board Staff's questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We will take our lunch break for an hour now.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:10 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 2:15 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


Unless there are any preliminary matters, I propose that we continue with this panel.  Mr. Esquega.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Esquega:

MR. ESQUEGA:  My name is Etienne Esquega.  I am counsel to Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek.


I have produced a compendium of documents, Madam Chair, which I would ask be marked as an exhibit.


MS. LONG:  Let's mark that, please.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K4.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.5:  BIINIJITIWABIK ZAAGING ANISHNAABEK CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR IESO PANEL 1


MR. ESQUEGA:  Have you had a chance to review the compendium that I shared?


MR. FARMER:  A little bit of a chance, yes.  I don't have it with me, though, I'm afraid.


MS. LONG:  Sorry, can we get copies for the witnesses, please.


-- Documents passed to witness panel.


MR. FARMER:  Thank you.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you familiar with the materials that are in the brief?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry to interrupt.  I just wanted to point out there is nobody running the screens any more.


MR. MURRAY:  We are working on that right now.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair...


[Laughter]


MS. LONG:  Mr. Buonaguro, you don't have a copy?  Mr. Stephenson, you don't have a copy?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am okay --


MS. LONG:  Are you okay?


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- I just wanted to point that out.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, why don't we start.  The Panel has copies.  The witnesses have copies that you can flip through?


MR. FARMER:  We do.


MS. LONG:  Until we get it up on the screen.  Okay?


MR. ESQUEGA:  It is a short brief, and I am only going to refer you to two letters in that brief unless we need to refer you to the third one that I have included in it.


I would like to ask you some questions about IESO's consultation activities from 2011.  Are you familiar with those consultation activities?


MR. FARMER:  So both Mr. Maria and I were not directly involved.  Mr. Maria was with the IESO.  I was with the Ontario Power Authority.  I was peripherally involved with the planning for the northwest but not involved with the duty to consult.


I am familiar with the letters, in that they were provided in the compendium, and I do recall a little bit, but I am not that familiar with the actual details.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you able to tell me why you were receiving a letter from the Ministry of Energy on May 31, 2011?  It is in your brief starting at page 5.


MR. FARMER:  I believe that letter, again -- I don't have a lot of familiarity, but the letter appears to ask the OPA to take on the duty to consult up to the designation process.


MR. ESQUEGA:  I understand there is two consultation activities happening from this letter.  There is one looking at the Integrated Power System Plan, IS -- IPSP --


MR. FARMER:  IPSP.


MR. ESQUEGA:  -- there is -- that was going on.  And this letter suggests that you were being asked to take on an additional consultation activity involving what you just mentioned, the consultation activity, up to the development phase.


MR. FARMER:  Yes.  From the letter, that is apparent.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And I am just curious to know, when you look at the consultation activities that occurred with respect to the IPSP, were those consultation activities geared at looking at the needs assessment as well for the northwest region?


MR. FARMER:  I do not know the answer to that question.  And I would be just speculating if I were to say what the IPSP consultation -- in general, IPSP, integrated power system plans, do deal with needs assessments.  They look at the adequacy of resources, their ability to meet the needs, and that maybe there was some elements related to consultation with Indigenous communities, but I am afraid I don't have knowledge.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Well, this letter is clear.  It is saying that you're -- IESO is consulting on the IPSP, and I am just curious to know whether or not the results of that consultation activity made its way to informing the production and preparation of the needs assessment reports that have been referred to in this proceeding.


MR. FARMER:  So I am -- seriously, I am not trying to evade the question.  I just don't have any knowledge about what was undertaken in those consultations.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And you are not able to tell me what was used in those consultation activities?


MR. FARMER:  I am not, no.


MR. ESQUEGA:  There is also another letter from -- actually, just before I leave from that letter, I would just like to note that this letter is dated May 31, 2011, and at the end the Ministry of Energy provides you with a deadline of approximately 30 days to undertake that consultation; is that right?  If you look to the second-last paragraph.


MR. FARMER:  It says that:

"The OPA will include a record of these discussions in its report on the preliminary assessment if need for the project which the Board has requested be submitted no later than June 30th, 2011."

MR. ESQUEGA:  If you can just confirm that was 30 days from the date of this letter?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And that was to consult with all Indigenous communities that were identified?


MR. FARMER:  Again, I assume that that may be correct, but cannot confirm.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Moving on to the next letter at page 8.  Are you familiar with this letter?  It is dated May 9th, 2012, from the OPA to the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. FARMER:  I am not, no.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And are you able to comment on the activities that are summarized on the second page of this letter?


MR. FARMER:  I am not.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Finally, are you able to comment on the statement that is made by the OPA in the last paragraph of this letter, where the OPA notes for the Board that:

"The OPA's report on the project entitled the long-term electricity outlook for the northwest and context for the East-West Tie expansion, noted that the interests or concerns raised by First Nation and Métis communities through the consultation sessions were linked to the costs of the project and the importance of beginning consultation early in the project development phase."

Are you able to explain why that statement is there?


MR. FARMER:  I am not, no, unfortunately.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And I guess you are probably not able to tell me today what communities -- or whether or not the IESO ever or Ontario Power Authority ever determined which First Nation communities were deemed to be less adversely affected by this route?


MR. FARMER:  I am not.  We came prepared to speak to the addendum and the estimate of costs to meet reliability needs in the interim, and I am not versed on the consultation efforts.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And in terms of the addendum itself, can you please confirm with me that no consultation occurred with First Nation communities concerning the preparation of that addendum?


MR. FARMER:  The addendum was developed by the IESO and focused on the requirements to maintain reliability in the northwest up until the in-service date of the East-West Tie.


MR. ESQUEGA:  And you can confirm that no First Nation communities were consulted on the preparation of that report?


MR. FARMER:  I am not aware of any, no.


MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  Ms. DeMarco?

Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair, thank you, panel.  Just by way of reference -- it's on.  Glen just turned me off.


By way of introduction, I have two areas of clarification that I would like to ask you some questions on.  The first is in relation to the analysis that you did, and for your reference, I am not going to refer specifically to them, but my questions are largely around what is now Exhibit K4.4, Table 2 in your addendum report, and the responses that you have given to NextBridge interrogatories 1, 3, 7, and 15.


Your table in Table 2 summarizes your estimates of the costs of incremental capacity, the costs associated with additional transmission line losses, and lost savings on energy production costs.  Is that fair?


MR. FARMER:  Yes, it is.


MS. DeMARCO:  The clarifications that I've got for you or wish from you relate to the GE MARS model and the U plan model and the inputs that have gone into that.


So at a very crude, soccer-mom level, my understanding is that you put in a number of model inputs and assumptions and the model, particularly GE MARS, kicks out reliability conclusions in around SAIDI/SAIFI delivery point reliability index.  Do I have that right?


MR. FARMER:  I wasn't sure about the last part, but I think you described the GE MARS model.  I believe it stands for multi area reliability simulator.


Basically, you load up the model with an hourly load forecast.  You load up the model with the characteristics of all of the generation that is available for the area.  You put the limits on transmission, if necessary.  You do not model the interrelated or interconnected jurisdictions within MARS.


What MARS does is look at solving for all of the uncertainties.  It basically runs a Monte Carlo simulation which looks at all of the various permutations of all of those uncertainties and looks at a -- develops a loss of load expectation, and we look for a loss of load expectation of one day in ten years or .1 day per year.  So we solve the model until we get it to that loss of load expectation, and that is how we develop the requirements for the northwest.


MS. DeMARCO:  It is that second point that I would like to follow up on, the characteristics of all generation available for the area.


Fair to say that when you put in your inputs, you included the Thunder Bay generating station?


MR. FARMER:  In our original runs, we did indeed.  And in the assessment that is within this document, we have the Thunder Bay generating station as a resource.


And we anticipated that the Thunder Bay generating station would have been available to us in some form to be re-procured in some way when its expiry date was at 2020, should that have been needed.  The Thunder Bay generating station developed some issues earlier this year, and OPG came to us -- Ontario Power Generation came to us and asked if, given the magnitude of investment they would have to make in the station to maintain its running and with only one year left on their contract -- which was a pilot project to burn advanced biomass -- would we consider cancelling the contract.


We, in our experience, had not been seeing a measurable contribution from the Thunder Bay generating station towards reliability.  It had a very high forced outage rate.  And so we accepted that proposal, knowing that Thunder Bay was not making a significant difference in our assessments at that time, and cancelled the contract.


My understanding is that Ontario Power Generation are decommissioning the facility.


MS. DeMARCO:  So very generally, when you ran the June 29th model, there was a resource that was in the model and on July 27th, that resource is no longer available?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.  I would stress, though, that in the years that we have highlighted in our analysis here, the Thunder Bay generating station was not included in any of those years because the Thunder Bay generating station's contract would have ended by 2020.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in the 2017, 2018, and 2019 assumptions it was included.  But after 2020...


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  2020 itself was included, yes?


MR. FARMER:  Thunder Bay would have -- I believe its contract would have ended at the beginning of 2020.  And so it would have been perhaps partially included for 2020, but it really wasn't included for 2020.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, that's helpful, partially included for 2020.


Let me ask you about the FIT contracts and FIT generation that was assumed.


Was there, in the model inputs, allowance or consideration of the northwestern local feed in tariff generation resources that were contracted by the IESO?


[Witness panel confers.]

MR. FARMER:  Yes.  I think so, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  So we know that 758 of those contracts were now cancelled.  Fair?


MR. FARMER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  So there were generation resources of that nature that were in the June 29th assessment.  Fair?


MR. FARMER:  I believe they were.  I would have to check specifically.  But yes, they would have been included.


MS. DeMARCO:  And they're no longer in that available resources, is that fair?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, that's helpful.  On the demand side, your inputs included current load estimates and some load forecast, is that fair?


MR. FARMER:  That's correct, it is the same forecast as was provided in our updated needs assessment, which was provided December 1st, 2017, to the Ministry of Energy.


MS. DeMARCO:  And I looked through that and in terms of those load estimates, I didn't see any associated impact or redress or address of the impact of cannabis legalization on load demand.  Have I got that wrong, or am I smoking something?


[Laughter]


MR. FARMER:  I won't speculate on the latter part of your question, but my -- in doing the northwest forecasts, I don't believe there were -- no specific cannabis growing operations were brought to our attention.


In developing our forecasts, we spend a lot of time with chambers of commerce, Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines, the various proponents of the various mining facilities and any other industry that we can father information from.  We have access to the existing loads and what is happening.


So we had a lot of information, but I didn't have, as I recall, anything specific related to cannabis, no.


MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say in other jurisdictions that have legalized cannabis, it is a generally recognized trend that load increases quite dramatically?


MR. FARMER:  That is correct.  We see the potential for significant growth in southwestern Ontario, for example, driven by the growth in the vegetable markets and in cannabis operations.


MS. DeMARCO:  Not just in southwest Ontario.  It's fair to say it could be the entire province, given that --


MR. FARMER:  It is possible.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  Thanks.   So my modelling days mathematics skills are far out of date.


I would like to help you get a sense -- ask you to help me get a sense, just directionally.


If you've overestimated the potential supply available and underestimated forecast load, what is the directional possible impact on your conclusions regarding reliability impact and costs?


MR. FARMER:  So if I followed that correctly, and without knowing the exact quantums, but it sounds as though the capacity requirement would be higher.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And in terms of therefore the cost of delay with fewer resources -- let's just focus on the resource piece -- if you have fewer resources available than you thought you had and that were in your assumptions in the modelling and you have to go procure them, would those costs be higher, lower, or no change directionally in your mind?


MR. FARMER:  One would expect the costs to be higher.  It is basically if the need is 100 megawatts, you assign a value to 100 megawatts.  If the need is 101 megawatts, it is basically 101 percent of the value.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, great.  Similarly, in relation to the impact on the costs of reliability or interim resource reliance, would you expect the -- if you have overestimated the supply and underestimated the associated demand, would the costs be higher, lower, or no change?


MR. FARMER:  Can you repeat that one for me again?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I wasn't elegant in that, sorry.


In relation to the impact on the reliability-related costs, and specifically those interim resources that you speak to in the report, given the assumptions that there is supply in there that is too high at this point, you have resources that have come out of your assumptions, and that demand could be higher, would you expect those costs related to interim resources to be achieve reliability to be higher, lower, or no change?


MR. FARMER:  You would expect them to be higher.


MS. DeMARCO:  All right.  Thank you.


My second area of questions relates to current reliability status in areas to be served by the line.


Fair to say -- I think this question is for you, Mr. Maria, but for both of you open -- when you look at reliability in Ontario, the reliability in the north is worse than the Ontario average?


MR. MARIA:  I don't have the exact numbers.  It would be -- maybe Hydro One or the LDCs would have that number.  But I think it is fair to say that, like the lines in the northwest are long and so I would expect the reliability there to be worse than southern Ontario from the perspective of frequency and duration.


MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  And when you looked at in your report reliability impacts -- correct me if I'm wrong -- I understood that you looked at the system impacts and compliance with ORTAC, NERC, and the NPCC, is that right?


MR. MARIA:  That's right.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you didn't look at the reliability impacts on specific communities or specific Indigenous communities?

MR. MARIA:  So this line wouldn't address reliability to very specific communities supplied by long radial lines. This line really addresses reliability to the whole region in the northwest.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  And you didn't look at those secondary costs associated with poor reliability in specific communities?  That wasn't your mandate?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.  The East-West Tie, I wouldn't be able to address those.

MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, you didn't look at delayed reliability improvements in communities in the north as a function of the East-West Tie?

MR. MARIA:  Sorry, I am not sure what you mean by "delayed".  Can you repeat the question?

MS. DeMARCO:  If there is an associated delay in the timing of the East-West Tie, you didn't look at the specific costs in specific communities of that delay?

MR. MARIA:  So we didn't look at aspects such as if there is load interrupted what would be the costs to those communities, no, we didn't factor those costs in.

MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. Greer.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Greer:

MS. GREER:  Good afternoon.  Can you hear me?

MR. FARMER:  Yes, we can.

MS. GREER:  Are either of you familiar with the Greenstone Marathon Integrated Regional Resource Plan?

MR. MARIA:  I am familiar with it.

MS. GREER:  One recommendation of the IRRP is the installation of a new single-circuit line from the East-West Tie either near Nipigon or Marathon, leading to Long Lac; is that correct?

MR. MARIA:  Yes, that is a recommendation in a certain scenario of load growth.

MS. GREER:  Is this recommendation therefore dependent on either the EWT or LSL project being completed?

MR. MARIA:  No.  It is completely independent of the East-West Tie or the LSL line being completed.

MS. GREER:  So there is no connection between the two?

MR. MARIA:  Like, that line is really needed to supply local growth, load growth, in the Greenstone Marathon area. This line being completed is for all of the northwest, so in a way they're somewhat -- actually somewhat indirectly related in the sense that if we don't have this line we can't -- there might be -- we may not have sufficient capacity to supply the entire northwest load, and since the Greenstone Marathon area is part of the northwest load there is some indirect relationship like that, but generally the line you are talking about is to supply local load growth in that area.

MS. GREER:  So either the EWT or the LSL are not related to the recommendation being satisfied?  They're two separate --


MR. MARIA:  Yes, I would say that they're two separate.

MS. GREER:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

I understand, Board Staff, that the Batchewana First Nation has indicated they have no questions and Mr. Henderson is not on the line?

MR. MURRAY:  Correct, Madam Chair.  They confirmed by an e-mail to Board Staff earlier today.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we move to you, Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Just a few questions.  With respect to your addendum report, which I believe is now K4.4, as I understand it the report still recommends an in-service date by the end of 2020; is that correct?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I am also correct that the report says that the in-service delay beyond 2020 creates an unacceptable risk to the IESO?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do I take that to mean that in the IESO's view the line is needed by the end of 2022?

MR. MARIA:  So I am not sure exactly what you mean by "needed".  It is needed by 2020.  However, given that it might not be in-service by 2020 there are measures that we can take to manage reliability.  There's some risk associated with those measures and there is some costs, which is why we prefer to have the line in-service in 2020, but basically by 2020, by beyond 2022, the -- we believe the risks to trying to deal with the situation through interim measures is not acceptable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I took it that the 2020 date was recommended, but 2022 takes it to another level, and it is needed by that time?

MR. MARIA:  So to meet planning standards the line needs to be in-service by 2020.  That is the preferred solution.  However, if that can't happen there are other ways of meeting the planning standards through those interim options, which carry with it some risk and some cost.  And we're willing to accept that risk until beyond 2022, at which point the risk becomes too great.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And with respect to the need in the -- or -- the line should be in-service by the end of 2022, I am correct that it is not December 31st, 2022, the need can be met, but January 1st we pop the champagne and the risk becomes unacceptable on that date.  Correct?

MR. MARIA:  So you are asking if there is like a two- or three-day delay, or --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am just trying to understand, is it really that by December 31st, 2022 you can manage but January 1st you can't?  Is the date -- do you understand what I am asking?

MR. MARIA:  Yeah.  So I think what...

--- Witness panel confers.

MR. MARIA:  So basically the need -- like, the granularity, the study was yearly.  So the need really jumps in the year 2023.  So that is why 2023 is kind of -- beyond 2022 is kind of the drop-dead date.  But the -- I am not sure if that answered your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand you're saying it is really in 2023 that the risk becomes unacceptable.  You just have not determined that point in time.  Correct?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.  So the granularity of the study was yearly.  So what I can say is around 2023, that is when the need jumps due to certain generators, contracts expiring.  And at that point, that is when we want the East-West Tie, because we feel trying to manage that large of a need with interim options becomes a complicated problem.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are we able to put more precision on the time?  I know -- is it by the spring of 2023?  By the summer of 2023?  Can you tell us any bit more when in 2023 you think -- is it the view of the IESO that you need to have the line in-service?

MR. FARMER:  So in 2023 the main driver of the increase is the expiration of contracts, and while I don't have the exact dates, one, as I recall, about 40 megawatts expires in early 2023, and then one during 2023 another 40 megawatts.

So you have sort of this need that starts early in 2023, all the time the load forecast is increasing as well.  So I don't think we can be precise in the way that you would want us to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  When you say "early 2023" what does that mean to you?

MR. FARMER:  I don't recall the expiry date, but subject to check, I believe it is in the first quarter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.

And lastly, there was some discussion with Mr. Murray before the break -- before the lunch break.  Mr. Maria, you -- there was a discussion about the two-week outage, and you said it is very complicated.  That is why we like two years' notice in advance, but that there is a good chance it could happen.  Your words were "good chance".  Do you recall that discussion?

MR. MARIA:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand what in your mind a good chance it will happen means.  And just for reference, if I can help you, if I can ask the person working the machine to turn to -- this is in response to -- oh, no one is working the machine, I apologize.

[Laughter]

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I will read you what I am looking at.  I am looking at -- just for the reference for the transcript, this is from Staff interrogatory 13 to Hydro One, attachment 1.  This is their risk registrar.  And for one of the risks it is titled "15-day double-circuit outage cancelled two weeks before scheduled start date.  New start date moved to the following year."

And the probability of that happening, Hydro One has said, is between zero and 24 percent.  When you say that there is a good chance that it could happen, is it the IESO's view that the odds of the two-week outage occurring in the year that it is planned to be at least 76 percent or greater?

--- Witness panel confers.

MR. MARIA:  So unfortunately I can't confirm that number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that is Hydro One's number.  I am asking from your perspective.  When you talked about a good chance.

MR. MARIA:  I think by putting this requirement in there and allowing for the planning to start earlier we increase the chances.  If I used the word "good chance" I probably meant we increase the chances and we -- and the idea, I feel, by putting this condition in the SIA, the reason it was put in there is so that we could -- we're reasonably confident it could happen.  But in terms of probabilities and exact quantification of it -- I think it is something we can count on, and we feel like a two-year lead time is sufficient that we can plan this properly, but what I can't quantify is all of the uncontrollable factors that could cause it to get delayed or get cancelled, like, and this is why I can't give a number to it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair enough.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.

I am going to take you quickly to IESO response to CCC-1.  This is the one interrogatory we asked you.  It is not going to come up on the screen, but I can briefly summarize it for people who don't have it.

We asked about a 2011, I guess the initial report from the IESO -- I guess at that time, it would have been the Ontario Power Authority -- with respect to the East-West Tie, and particularly page 37 of that report.  There was a discussion about benefits of the tie in relation to savings related to congestion management credits.

Do you have the source?

MR. MARIA:  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And we had noted in the addendum -- and at that point, the savings that were estimated would have been $15 million per year, correct?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  In the addendum which was released specific to this proceeding, which is, I think, Exhibit K4.4, those specific savings were not quantified or even really referred to, correct?

MR. MARIA:  In the addendum, we took a different approach to it, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is what I'm going to get to.  I want to understand why the different approach eliminated those savings.

The answer talks about your different approach and you can refer to it obviously in your response to me.  But generally speaking, my understanding is that there is still a congestion management credit system, correct?

MR. MARIA:  There is, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the time of the 2011 report, in the relevant area, the cost was approximately $40 million per year on average over a nine-year period.

MR. MARIA:  That's what the report said, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Can you tell me what it is now in the same area, relative to that $40 million per year.

MR. MARIA:  No, I can't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it in the same scope?  Are there any fundamental changes that would mean to you that it's definitely well under 40 million or well above 40 million?

MR. MARIA:  I am not sure how much we're paying in CHMC today in the northwest.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it still the case that when the line goes in, as long as this congestion management system is still in place, there would be savings in the way that were contemplated in the 2011 report?

MR. MARIA:  So if we reduce congestion in the northwest, yes, there would be a change to the CMSC payments being made.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Because right now and this is in the response, you sort of substituted for a reduction in costs related to congestion management and it is around a half million dollars, which is well under the $50 million that was contemplated in 2011.

I mean, the short answer is I'm trying to figure out what happened to my $15 million and whether I should be worried that it has disappeared.

MR. MARIA:  So I think -- so the approach that we took for this particular addendum was to quantify the total system costs of congestion, which essentially is the costs of constraining down less expensive generation in northwest and replacing it with more expensive generation in southern Ontario.  That is the direct impact of congestion on the East-West Tie, so we quantified that.

And we thought that was probably a more representative metric for congestion costs.

CMSC is kind of like a market mechanism that allocates those costs in a certain way.  So it is more -- I use the word allocate very loosely, but it is a way of allocating the costs due to congestion.  But it doesn't really capture the costs of congestion, which is why we tried to do it -- we did it differently this time.

I think the -- and the other point around CMSC is it's probably a market mechanism that will change with market renewal.  So it is not really a representative measure going forward.

So I would say the .5 million we're seeing in the addendum is the number that I would stand behind right now as the cost of congestion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So I just wanted to see if I can understand that, and I am going to seize on the word "allocation" -- and I know you've warned me about your use of the word allocation.  Maybe that's where the problem is.

So is it the case -- and we can go back to the 2011 example.  When you go from $40 million in the -- $40 million cost in credits in 2011 being reduced by $15 million as a result of the tie, are you saying that it is not that $15 million worth of costs are eliminated, they're just reallocated amongst the people in the system?

MR. MARIA:  So for this addendum, we didn't try to determine impacts on CMSC.  So I am not sure -- I am not sure what would have been the impact to CMSC here.

The other point I do want to make, though, is that in that 2011, it was nor more of a look back.  They looked back and said historically, CMSC payments were $40 million and therefore -- I am going to have to check the 40 million, but I am pretty sure that is what it said, and 40 percent of it roughly was due to the east-west congestion. Therefore, they drive the 15 million that way.

What we're doing with the .5 is actually a .look forward, which I think that is another difference.  So we're not looking at historical congestion costs and trying to derive the congestion benefit.  We are actually looking at a projection of the system in the future.

So there are many differences between how we derived the .5 for this addendum and how the $15 million was derived in 2011.  So it is hard to make those comparisons.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You said there are many differences?

MR. MARIA:  There are differences, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I am still struggling to see why there wouldn't be that savings in congestion management credits as a result of the tie.

MR. MARIA:  So there will be savings.  It is just we didn't determine what those savings will be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it a major task to quantify them?

MR. MARIA:  So we think generally the approach of total system cost is a more representative way of doing it, so I don't ...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I ask because the total of all of the other costs is in the area of about $20 million per year.  And the evidence I have on the record from the costs of –- or the savings resulting from reduced congestion management credit payments is $15 million, and that was back in 2011.

So I am trying to figure out if that is completely -- if it is actually not there, or you just simply haven't quantified it.

It sounds like you just haven't quantified it. So you can't even tell me if it is more than 15 or less than 15 million.

MR. MARIA:  We haven't quantified the impacts on CMSC.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, can I ask the question in terms of task?  Is it an onerous task?  I have no idea.  And you would have -- my understanding it would be based on projecting based on historicals.  So if the 40 million has continued throughout the period from 2011, then it would be based on that data.

MR. MARIA:  So to be honest, I am not sure how difficult it would be to do this.

It is not something -- like when we think of congestion costs now, we don't think of it in terms of CMSC and we haven't thought of it that way for a while.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I take your point.  But the fact is the credits are still being paid and there would still be savings as a result of the reduction, wouldn't there, until the system is replaced with something else?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.  So I am -- since we haven't done it that way for a while, I am not sure how difficult this would be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am in the Board's hands.  I would like to know the number and maybe they could think about how -- if it is something they can do in an hour, great.  If they're saying it takes two weeks of analysis, then I am fine to let it go -- or they can maybe think of it in terms of an undertaking.

MS. LONG:  It seems to me they're saying it is not how they calculate it anymore, so they're having difficulty determining whether it is an hour's job --


MR. BUONAGURO:  If they could think about it and report on Friday and say they can't do it, it's going to take too long, I'm happy to let it go.  But if it is an hour's work, they don't know.  I am in the Board's hands.

MS. LONG:  Maybe you can take it away and think about it and counsel, Mr. Zacher, can let us know what type of endeavour that would be.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you much.  Do we give that an undertaking record, or we can leave it on the record like that?

MS. LONG:  I am not giving the undertaking now.  It is an undertaking to report back what level of work would be involved to calculate that number.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as J4.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO ADVISE THE LEVEL OF WORK REQUIRED TO CALCULATE SAVINGS ON CMSC RESULTING FROM REDUCED CONGESTION MANAGEMENT CREDIT PAYMENTS

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  And then I am going to refer you to one other interrogatory.  This is an interrogatory that was put forward by SEC to Hydro One, and this is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 22.

This interrogatory asked Hydro One to incorporate the findings in the IESO's addendum to the updated needs assessment into their net present value calculation.  Are you aware of this interrogatory response?

MR. FARMER:  We are, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And basically, the result of the interrogatory response or the conclusion, at least in part, on page 2, they suggest that notwithstanding the fact that in the one year's delay for the purposes of the calculation that they assumed between the NextBridge in-service date and the Hydro One in-service date incurring -- there was an IESO-related, if I can call it that, cost of approximately $20 million for 2021.

That the net present value difference between the two Proposals, based on the costs they have assumed in the interrogatory response, only change by about $2 million, so a very small amount.  Did I describe that correctly to you?

MR. FARMER:  I believe that is what the analysis that was provided by Hydro One says.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I wanted to see if the IESO had an opinion on the way that they've done this, and there is a reference to an Excel spreadsheet that was included in terms of -- with respect to their calculation.

And for example, they assumed that that $20 million was an OM&A cost spent in 2021 for the purposes of their net present value calculation.  And presumably they're assuming a savings in terms of the revenue requirement to be paid by ratepayers as a result of pushing off the project by a year.

Does their methodology conclusion match what the IESO -- how the IESO would run this calculation?

MR. FARMER:  So I am not entirely sure that we would run a calculation like this, and Hydro One are a sophisticated transmission company and can do this kind of analysis.  We have -- maybe the best I can offer is just an observation.  One is that the assumption seems to be that the costs of the interim measures would accrue to Hydro One in their analysis, if I am reading it correctly, and that's not determined.  It would depend how those measures were procured, and the cost allocation issue may be something better for the Board to deal with.

But if we proceed, and we do intend to proceed with some form of competitive procurement, it would either be funded from global adjustment if it were to -- by directive or uplift if it was something we were doing under reliability concerns.  So I am not sure that the treatment of it to Hydro One -- I think that is a different discussion and one that needs to be considered.

And then if you can scroll up slightly in this sheet, we may have noticed -- if you look at the costs assumed in the interrogatory response of 18 and 20.6, and then you scroll down to the table itself, the other table, it would appear that only the 20.6 has been factored in, and I would have assumed that it would actually be those two costs combined, and it would be 38.6 that would be factored into the analysis as the cost of the interim measures for those two years, because I believe the purpose was to compare a NextBridge in-service date of one year compared to a Hydro One in-service date of the year after.

So I think I am reading the table correctly by saying that, but subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you very much.

And you just talked about the difference in how you would -- how the payments would be treated.  Could different methodologies of treating it either as a payment of the global adjustment or what-have-you change the $2 million result?

MR. FARMER:  I don't know the answer.  I mean, the actual costs will be determined by the procurement process, and presumably, as we discussed this morning, there would be a competitive process to try and get the best cost for these services.  So that would probably have more of an impact.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Gentlemen, my name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant with VECC.  I just have a few questions.  One is related to the outage that Hydro One would need to go through the park that's been raised before.  I just want a little bit of an understanding about the scheduling of the outage and how flexible you are around that outage.

Since Hydro One has to bring in a lot of equipment -- and of course that equipment, some of it is very weather-dependent.  So if Hydro One were in a situation, for instance, where two weeks of weather, for instance, just move the date around, how much of a difference -- what impact does that have on you on allowing them to either have these outages or not have the outages?  What kind of flexibility do they have around those dates?

MR. MARIA:  So I think that would depend on the conditions around that time.  So they would look at things such as the -- what other outages are planned on the system, what are availability of resources, what does demand look like, the weather.  There would be a lot of things that they would look at around that time, and that would determine flexibility around moving outages.

MR. GARNER:  So are you saying to me there is no way right now to really determine how much flexibility they might have?  For instance, if there is a drought and there is not a lot of, for instance, hydroelectric power available you may have less flexibility than if there's a lot of water and you have a lot of capability?  Is that what you are driving at?

MR. MARIA:  So there are ways to, right now, try to create flexibility.  For example, a plan could be put in place where outages are not taken anywhere in the northwest for two weeks before or two weeks after the outage, that -- the planned outage.  So there is ways of creating flexibility, but there is some factors that we just won't know until the time, like water conditions, as you mentioned.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.

One of the things you said earlier was that you operate the current East-West Tie to storm conditions.  Why is that?

MR. MARIA:  Because during storms there's a higher likelihood that you would lose two circuits.  So we operate the system to expect the loss of those two circuits.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And as we go forward -- right now you say you can operate with both circuits out, right?

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Under the current plan.

MR. MARIA:  Yes, and so during storms we operate with the possibility of losing two circuits.

MR. GARNER:  And just remind me.  I know this is a very simple question.  The East-West Tie is being built for what purpose?  To bring power, energy into the region, not export power out of the region; is that right?

MR. MARIA:  Yes, the primary purpose of the East-West Tie is to supply loads in the region --


MR. GARNER:  Right.  So as that load changes, for instance, you were saying -- what will be the status quo of the number of circuits that you are going to expect to operate under?  Right now you can operate without both circuits?  That won't be the case in the future?

MR. MARIA:  So right now the -- exactly.

MR. GARNER:  How many will you need to operate at any given time?  How many circuits can you live without, so to speak, in the future under your plan?  Under your assessment?

MR. MARIA:  So basically what the assessment is showing is there reaches a point where two circuits are insufficient to supply the load under the conditions we're studying, so no imports from Manitoba, certain demands and drought conditions.  And so at that point there is a need for more capacity, and the analysis basically showed that connecting -- creating the East-West Tie is the most economical way for supplying that capacity.  There was other options looked at, but this East-West Tie would be the most economical way of doing it.

So if you want to -- so basically the -- that table that shows the need in different years, that is an indication of what the capacity gap is in every year.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But what I was thinking was -- or asking was, you are going to now need to -- you were able to operate without two circuits, which is basically the line.

MR. MARIA:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  In the future going forward, that will no longer be the case, will it?  You will need to have some circuits opened at all time in let's say ten years when you are looking down the road, as opposed to right now, where you can live without the two circuits.  Now you will have four.  Going through the park you will have four on one line if they're successful.

Will you need any of those circuits to operate at any given time, so to speak?

MR. MARIA:  So just to clarify, we don't operate the circuits out.  We operate such that if we lose the circuits there are no adverse impacts to the system.  So that is just a small clarification.

MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.

MR. MARIA:  So what we're seeing is beyond -- by 2020 the capacity -- the need for capacity in the region becomes -- gets to a point where we need more capacity, and that is what the East-West Tie is providing.

So I would say beyond 2020 we need all four circuits.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  That is fine.

One other question right now.  As you say, the purpose of the east -- well, hold on.  Let me back up.

One thing I am a little bit confused at, and I think when Mr. Murray was going through this in his questions to you and he was talking about the issue of network effects and collateral effects, as I understand what you were saying to the Board is that the single-tower idea through the park meets all of the NERC requirements.  But what -- you are not saying this, are you, that the probability of outages is the same as if you had two parallel lines as you would be under the NextBridge system?


So what I am saying is that under a catastrophic event the likelihood of a catastrophic event happening at two separate locations simultaneous or near simultaneous is less than happening at one location, isn't it?

MR. MARIA:  Right.  So I am not commenting on the probability of outages to -- I am not comparing the probability of losing all four circuits under different options.  All I'm saying is that both options meet planning standards.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.  And one of the things about these towers that are being built, they last a long time, and I don't know how long the current system has been in place, the current East-West Tie is in place.  50 years, 60 years?  Is that about right?

MR. MARIA:  That sounds about right.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And one of the things that occurs to me -- and I like to use this example of the Bloor viaduct, which had a platform built for a train that wasn't built for about 60 years.  So -- it wasn't built until 1966.

So if your study doesn't go out that -- 60 years, does it?  So in the future, 30 years from now, power the inter-tie to Manitoba, for instance, is increased or made larger, and I understand they have a DC reinforcement line being built.  If they were to build that large -- and Ontario wanted to import power for the purpose of replacing, let's say, nuclear power that was being taken off line, wouldn't it be a superior option to have parallel lining than to have a single, what I call bottleneck line system for the province?  Wouldn't that be a superior reliability outcome for the province?

MR. MARIA:  All I can say on that is that we did our analysis and we believe reinforcing the East-West Tie is the right solution for the northwest at this time.

MR. GARNER:  I guess the way I put it then is this way.  Your analysis, how far does it look out?  What is your window of looking out in the analysis?

MR. FARMER:  So we looked at the 20 years.  But to help my colleague, Mr. Maria, I mean, the East-West Tie is only one point of congestion between the north and the load centres in the south, and so you upgrade the East-West Tie.  For the premise of your question to displace nuclear, you're still not going to be able to move enough energy from Manitoba through the north and then south to the load centres, because the other congestion points still occur.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I won't belabour it.  I think I will finish it off with this and to follow that up.  I wasn't suggesting it was a total solution to anything, Mr. Farmer.

What I was really asking is whether the difference in the two proponents' construction, one with what I call a parallel system and one with a system that has a bottleneck point, if either of those would have a superior outcome in the future if power -- instead of bringing power into the region, we were actually using it as some sort of inter-tie, increasing the inter-tie.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MARIA:  I don't think one would have an advantage over the other.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Stephenson?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

The first issue is, I know that you've indicated the IESO's preference to have the new line in service some time in 2020.  We have heard evidence in this proceeding that by virtue of the timing of the in service of the certain stations, that regardless of which proponent is selected, the new line won't be in service until sometime in 2021.

You are familiar with that evidence, I take it?

MR. MARIA:  Yes, I am.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Assuming that that is correct, does that affect any of your analysis or conclusions that are embedded in your reports?

MR. MARIA:  So basically, the conclusions remain the same.  We would like the line in service by 2020.  Given that the reality is it might not be in service by 2020, we would need to take certain actions to secure the northwest and we would assess that and determine what the appropriate actions are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And those actions are the ones that you have outlined in the report, right?

MR. MARIA:  That's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And all this issue does is affect the probability, I guess, that you are going to need those as opposed to what they are?

MR. MARIA:  That's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me quickly deal with the issue of cannabis grow operations for a moment.

As I understood it, you indicated that that potential demand was not factored into your analysis regarding the northwest demand.

MR. FARMER:  So specifically, not any known cannabis operations in the northwest.  In our earlier assessments, we have scenarios.  We have a high scenario, a reference and a low scenario and the idea of a high scenario is to take in higher economic growth.

The East-West Tie serves under the high scenario, so it may change the quantum of the interim measure, if there were an increase in demand in the interim.

MR. STEPHENSON:  What I was just about to get at is that it occurred to me that there was two possible interpretations of what you had said.

One was that this was an oversight and it was something that you didn't think about when you were doing your planning.  And the other was that, well, it was on the radar screen, but we didn't have sufficient evidence of probable significant activity in that field, and therefore we didn't think it was sufficient to increase the demand.

MR. FARMER:  So we have been factoring the emergence of the cannabis industry and its effect, and our 18-month outlooks have reflected the growth in demand from that sector.

We are not aware of specific projects that are in the northwest.  We're very aware of many projects proposed in south-western Ontario and around the Hamilton area and some in midwestern Ontario.  But we don't have any specific knowledge in the northwest.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's fine.  Lastly, I just wanted to touch on this issue about the expiring contracts, the expiring generation contracts.  And just so I have it right, there are two significant -- reasonably significant ones, both expiring some time in 2023, I think.

MR. FARMER:  There are two that expire in 2023 and then Atikokan expires in 2024.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let's talk about the other two.  I know about Atikokan.

Can you just assist me for a moment?  What kind of generators are these?

MR. FARMER:  I am not entirely clear.  I could find out.  One is a NUG at Nipigon -- is that hydro?  It's gas; so a gas NUG at Nipigon.  And the other one is in Thunder Bay, which I believe is also gas, if I am not mistaken.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But in any event, these have both been under long-term contract for a significant period of time, right?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I appreciate there is no, you don't -- there's no certainty as to what they might be prepared to do at the end of that contract, right?  You have reflected that uncertainty in your report, correct?

MR. FARMER:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But just directionally, you don't have any specific information, I take it, that these contracts -- these generators are unwilling to enter into some kind of renewal agreement, I take it?

MR. FARMER:  So we definitely assume, in both our provincial and local assessments, that the generators -- they haven't informed us otherwise, they're still in good condition, they should be -- they might be a little bit of reinvestment, but they should be available to be re-procured, and it is really just a case of understanding what procurement process you will use in order to discuss with them the terms of that.

And our organizational preference is for shorter term commitments.  We are moving into an incremental capacity option we're currently designing.  So we may have to bridge them into a mechanism like that.  But yes, we assume they would be available.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Isn't there reason to believe that whoever owns and operates these facilities, they would rather have some income than no income.  That is not a crazy assumption?

MR. FARMER:  I don't think I would be going too far out on a limb if I agreed with you there, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And given the fact that these plants have been under long-term contracts -- and when we say long term, I'm assuming like 20 years or something like that, right?

MR. FARMER:  I believe so.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, there's plants -- there is reason to believe that these plants are, from an economic perspective, either fully depreciated or something close to being fully depreciated.  Is that fair?

MR. FARMER:  Well, I wouldn't rule out that they would need some level of investment at some point.

And in our assessment, for example the new plant, we always look at some kind of capital requirement around year 21 or so.

So it is possible they would need an investment, but they're -- probably their facilities are largely depreciated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Certainly, relative to a greenfield operation, there is reason to believe that they're both motivated and are economically situated to enter into an agreement that is competitive.  Fair?

MR. FARMER:  Well, I believe that the best way to prove that is to hold a competitive process and to allow a number of resources that may be able to participate in that process, determine what the price would be, and the ones that are successful are the ones that would get the contracts.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The proof of the pudding is always in the eating.  I accept that.

But again, my point is a slightly different one.  Given that, as I think you have agreed with me, they would rather have some income rather than no income, and secondly, that there is certain economically advantageous situations for being not a greenfield operation, you have a reason to be optimistic that they would be motivated and able to be competitive.

How competitive will depend upon your other alternatives.  I understand that.

MR. FARMER:  So I would go back and then disagree -- and I hope I didn't mislead you, the notion that some income is better than no income.  We have in our experience a number of plants that are starting to come off of their contracts, and some of the feedback we get is that they need to be able to cover their capital and operating costs.

And so the notion that any amount would do is not true. They are going to have a revenue requirement in order to be profitable or actually the best course of action is to shut down, right?  So it's not determined.  I have faith that both plants would want to participate and would have a good chance, but I don't know that they would be successful.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough.  Thanks.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

The Panel has a few questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Just one question following up.  It was a conversation you had with Ms. DeMarco, and maybe I didn't understand the context, but what I wrote down was:  Specific communities were not examined, just reliability for the whole region.

Could you just elaborate a little bit on that?  And when you do a -- and the second part of my question is, when you do an outage plan, is it to ensure that there is no customer that is -- for which their service is not maintained?

MR. MARIA:  So I will answer the second question first, and the answer is --


MS. DUFF:  That's your option.

MR. MARIA:  The answer is yes.  When we do an outage plan we make sure that load is supplied, but that is the whole idea.

 And then on the first question, so in the northwest is generally supplied by the East-West Tie.  That is the main connection between the northwest and the rest of the province.  And so really reinforcing that tie is about bringing bulk power into the northwest.

Now, when you speak about the specific communities, like within the northwest there is a number of transmission lines that are used to supply individual communities.  The reliability of those individual transmission lines supplying the communities won't be improved or at all by the East-West Tie, because its reliability is the reliability of that line.  It won't -- so the East-West Tie helps bring power into the region, but it won't solve a problem if there's a community supplied by a long radial line in the northwest, and that line has -- has suffered reliability problems, the northwest can't help with that one.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for explaining that.

MS. LONG:  Those are all our questions.

Mr. Zacher, any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Zacher:

MR. ZACHER:  Yeah, I just had a couple of quick questions.

Panel, you will recall that Mr. Buonaguro asked you some questions about reconciling the $15 million in congestion management settlement credit costs from an earlier 2011 or 2012 report with the current estimate in the June 28th addendum of $0.5 million per year.

Can you explain, is the IESO's position that the estimate of $0.5 million in total energy costs pursuant to this -- its current methodology intended to be inclusive of all congestion costs post-2020, including CMSC costs?  Or are CMSC costs an additional separate cost?

MR. MARIA:  CMSC costs are not an additional cost.  It is included within the .5 million per year.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And to be fair to Mr. Buonaguro, can you just explain that, please?

MR. MARIA:  So the total cost of congestion -- so if we didn't have the East-West Tie, there is an increase in congestion.  The cost of that congestion is .5 million per year to all of the participants participating in the power system.  So it is basically the total system cost.

CMSC payments are -- is a payment that goes from one participant, which is the load customers, to another participant, which is the generator customers -- generators.  And it is just -- and it is triggered by congestion, but it is not at all a representation of the costs of congestion to a system.  It is more just payments going from one participant to the other that is triggered by congestion, which is why we prefer, like, to quantify the total cost to all the participants, all of the market participants, because that is the true cost of congestion.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

One other question.  Ms. DeMarco referred to a number -- a large number of FIT contracts which were included in the IESO's resource adequacy model for the northwest.  Do you recall her questions about that?

MR. FARMER:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  And she referenced the fact that these FIT contracts had been cancelled and so would no longer be part of the resource adequacy model or assessment for the northwest.

Have you considered the impact of the cancellation of those contracts on your latest addendum?

MR. FARMER:  So I don't believe the cancellation is included in the addendum, as the cancellation would have happened around or later than.

And I regret that I don't have the exact number of contracts that would have been in the northwest.  I recall asking the question as to whether this was impactful, and there were not a significant number of contracts in the northwest.  And what I also want to stress, when we did the analysis when requested by the Ministry for the 758 contracts -- and I forget the number of megawatts, but because they were solar and wind primarily, their contribution at the time of peak is actually quite low.

So they didn't have a significant impact on the overall adequacy of the system in Ontario, and I would assume, given that if there was a small number of contracts in the northwest, that would also have been true.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Maria, Mr. Farmer, thank you very much for your evidence today.  You are excused.

MR. FARMER:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  I think we will take our afternoon break now, and then Mr. Cass, Mr. Murphy, you can get your panel up and ready to be sworn.  Thank you.  15 minutes, please.
--- Recess taken at 3:22 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:44 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will introduce the NextBridge witnesses so that they can be affirmed.  I will start with the witness closest to the reporter.  He is Aziz Brott, project engineering lead with NextEra Energy Resources.

Next to Mr. Brott is Dan Mayers, director transmission engineering and construction with NextEra Energy Resources.

Then we have Jennifer Tidmarsh, who is the project director for NextBridge.

Next to her is Becky Walding, senior director, business management For NextEra Energy Transmission.

And then is Erin Whillans, who is a lands and right-of-way specialist with Enbridge.

Finally, at the end, we come to David Biggar, who is a project manager with CanACRE Limited.

They're all available to be sworn, Madam Chair -- or affirmed, I should say.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much I will swear the panel as a group.  
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Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I think most or all people in the room know the areas of evidence responsibility for the members of the panel.  I won't read that out.  It was actually provided in an e-mail that was sent to everyone on September 24th.  I could read from that e-mail, but I assume that is not necessary.

In order to move things along, I propose to direct questions to Ms. Tidmarsh in order to have her adopt the evidence on behalf of the panel, so I will do that next.

Ms. Tidmarsh, can you please, confirm that the evidence of NextBridge in this proceeding, including answers to interrogatories, technical conference evidence, and answers to undertakings was prepared by or direction under the members of your panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can confirm.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can you confirm that that evidence, again on behalf of the panel, is accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can confirm.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And on behalf of the panel, can you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I will.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Ms. Tidmarsh, can you start off the examination-in-chief, please, just by giving a brief introduction to the evidence that will be provided in examination-in-chief?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Good afternoon.  Thank you for allowing us time for a brief opening statement.

NextBridge has been committed to the construction of the East-West Tie line for the last four years, in order to provide reliable electricity to the northwest Ontario and to promote economic development in the region.

NextBridge continues to progress the East-West Tie line towards a December 2020 in-service date.

NextBridge is shovel ready.  NextBridge has cost certainty.  And NextBridge's design is more reliable.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, you have referred to the project as being shovel ready; can the panel elaborate on that, please?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can and I will begin.  The environmental assessment, NextBridge's environmental assessment has been reviewed by the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks and is considered complete.

The approval of the environmental assessment is expected in February of 2019.

We have filed into evidence a letter written by MECP on September 28th to NextBridge, confirming that the ministry's assessment of the amended EA is now complete.  Formal notice of completion is expected by the end of October, once the material has been translated for publication and made public by MECP.

We have also filed into evidence a letter from the Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport on our heritage impact assessment.  The letter confirms that the Ministry is satisfied with our heritage impact process and reporting is consistent and with the applicable heritage assessment requirements.

In September of 2018, NextBridge submitted the balance of its stage 2 archaeological assessment also to the ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport.

The East-West Tie line represents a shovel-ready project with a labour force ready to work.  As the Board has heard, an economic development corporation named Supercom, in coordination with NextBridge's general contractor, has trained over 250 individuals from 18 Indigenous communities.  These individuals are ready to work on the East-West Tie.

NextBridge has received and filed 17 letters of support.  Our extensive consultation with local municipalities and communities over the past four years has given NextBridge a unique and comprehensive understanding of the needs of the region.  In fact, in one of these letters, one of our stakeholders states:  
"Rare is the time when a project enjoys such strong, positive and widespread support as does the NextBridge project."

I will now pass it on to Mr. Mayers for a brief discussion of our engineering and construction.

MR. MAYERS:  So our engineering design has been completed to better than a 90 per cent level, and includes pole spotting, field recognizance, geotechnical information, grounding, foundation and anchor designs, and a drawing package nearing release for construction.

NextBridge also sees no reason why acceleration of the substation work cannot be undertaken by Hydro One Networks to achieve a December 20th to in-service date, or alternatively, why it can't be in service either one or two or three months thereafter.

For Marathon substation, for example, in our opinion, these durations are probably twice what would be expected in a project that we've undertaken:  Foundations, ten months.  Stalling bus support, six months.  Breakers and switches, eleven months.  Control building, seven months, and to terminate four spans of transmission wire to take over two months seems to be unreasonable.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Tidmarsh, you also referred to cost certainty in your brief introduction.  Can the panel elaborate on that, please?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  NextBridge's cost estimate reflects a mature AACE class 2 estimate within a narrow accuracy band, plus or minus 10 percent.

NextBridge is on the cusp of the AACE class 1 estimate upon receipt of its environmental assessment.

NextBridge's construction cost estimate is market-tested.  It has a fully executed and signed fixed price EPC contract, negotiated from a formal competitive bidding process that reduces schedule and cost risks and impacts.

NextBridge has already issued RFPs for tower contracts and will issue additional RFPs for materials to global sources, so a competitive source procurement can be executed shortly after receiving leave-to-construct approval.

More recently, our reviews of our balance of system, that would be the balance of the other materials besides towers, have been reviewed and our costs are well within line of what our expectations were.

NextBridge and Valard have a complete, well-thought-out access plan that minimizes environmental impacts and incorporates our extensive field reconnaissance program.

And finally, NextBridge has a family of ten towers that are fully designed, independently verified, load tested and ready for fabrication.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Mayers.  NextBridge has also spent considerable time consulting with First Nations and Métis communities.  These strong and trusting relationships have assisted NextBridge in reaching economic participation agreements.  The costs associated with these agreements is reflected in NextBridge's Indigenous participation costs.

NextBridge recently completed its 2018 field program for wildlife surveys, archeological assessments, and aquatic surveys are expected to be completed this month.  NextBridge has in-depth knowledge of permit requirements, with draft permits and applications being worked on collaboratively with the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry.

I will now pass to Ms. Whillans.

MS. WHILLANS:  Thank you, Ms. Tidmarsh.

I will give an update on the land acquisition program status.  So NextBridge continues to add to its completed land agreements.  We have progressed to signing 140 option agreements, representing 76 percent of affected private landowners and 70 consents, representing 33 percent of affected interest holders on provincial Crown lands in support of NextBridge's Crown land disposition approvals.

Furthermore, NextBridge continues to progress with land permitting, completing submission of building and land use, entrance and encroachment permits with the Ministry of Transportation in June of 2018 and in obtaining approvals from third-party agencies for various third-party approvals in August and September of 2018 for the overhead transmission line and access crossings.  These advances in the last few months has brought NextBridge to a mature stage of the land acquisition program and their permitting program and ensures that we have land available to start construction in June of 2019.  This also provides cost certainty in reducing the limited number of potential expropriations that may be required.

MR. CASS:  Finally, panel, the other area referred to in the brief introduction was reliability.  Can you elaborate on that, please.

MR. BROTT:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

So NextBridge can confidently say that our application addresses all of the OEB's minimum technical requirements.  These requirements were issued in 2011 specifically for the East-West Tie and are in place to ensure reliability.

The requirements include galloping, all electrical clearances, including conductor blowout to the edge of the right-of-way, live line work requirements, Charpy 2 hardware requirements, and lightning outage requirements.

Other important considerations with respect to reliability, we have a cohesive failure containment strategy that considers the critical nature of the project and the importance of timely restoration of the East-West Tie.

Our design has no single point of failure or bottleneck, and there are no crossings of the existing East-West Tie, there are no required outages of the existing East-West Tie, and there are no quad-circuit towers in our design.

Ms. Walding.

MS. WALDING:  And as Hydro One has entered into evidence, their project is an AACE class 3 project, which brings their estimate, minus 22 to a plus 30 percent accuracy, which brings the high end if they go through the park to 835 million and 895 million if they do not go through the park, and that represents that it is a very early-stage development.

However, NextBridge is not an early-stage development, which is why we have the AACE class 2 estimate, which is on the cusp of an AACE 1 class estimate, which brings with it the plus or minus 10 percent accuracy.

What I hope our panellists have displayed is that we have a very well-defined project that is shovel-ready, that is highly reliable, and has cost certainty.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, that completes the examination in-chief.

MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.  I believe the first party to cross-examine is the Métis Nations of Ontario, and Ms. Strachan, you're on the phone?

MS. STRACHAN:  I am, yes.  Can you hear me okay?

MS. LONG:  Maybe just a little bit louder, if you could.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Strachan?  Oh, no.  Maybe we will just pause one moment.

Ms. Strachan?

MS. STRACHAN:  Hi, I'm so sorry.  I was trying to turn up the volume and I hung up on you.  Is that better?

MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.

MS. STRACHAN:  Is that better?

MS. LONG:  That's better, yes.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Strachan:

MS. STRACHAN:  Perfect.  Great.  So I only have one question for Ms. Tidmarsh, and it is a follow-up to NextBridge's response to MNO information request number 1, which was in our compendium at the final tab, I believe.

As I only have one question, I don't know if you need to pull it up, but I can give you a moment if you would like to do that.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Tidmarsh --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm fine with that if everyone else is.  I'm fine with not bringing it up, that's fine.

MS. LONG:  All right.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay, perfect.

So in that information request response NextBridge states that since the May 7th, 2018 technical conference NextBridge has signed an Economic Participation Agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario.  And I was just wondering if you could confirm with me on what date that Economic Participation Agreement was executed.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  We signed an agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario this summer, and so in June of this year.

MS. STRACHAN:  So June 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  Perfect.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Strachan.

Ms. Greer, I believe you are next.

MS. GREER:  Hi, can you hear me?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can, thanks.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Greer:

MS. GREER:  My name is Virginia Greer, and I am counsel for the Long Lake 58 First Nation.

My questions are for you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  Can you tell me, roughly, when NextBridge began consultation with Indigenous communities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  So when the project -- when NextBridge received the designation in August of 2013, shortly thereafter NextBridge sent letters to all of the communities, the 18 communities from the duty to consult MOU, from the Ministry of Energy, in -- promptly, I believe, in end of September, early October of that year.

MS. GREER:  So over -- you will help me with the math -- 2018 --


MS. TIDMARSH:  2013.

MS. GREER:  Since 2013, over that number of years, would you be able to comment on whether or not the way NextBridge has had to consult or the style of consultation with communities has changed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I could.  So I believe when we first began consultations in 2013, we had a list of 18 communities.  And so we reached out with a letter and introducing ourselves.

After that, we ended up doing face-to-face meetings, which was extremely important.  We learned through the process, again, some communities were more interested than others in having conversations, none of which actually affects you know, their rights in the region, but some communities decided that they weren't having -- interested in having conversations, and some of them were also more interested in having conversations.

And so we adapted our consultation plan as we went along.  Some communities asked us only to keep them informed.  Some communities wanted regular meetings, regular phone calls, and so we adapted our plan over the past four-and-a-half years.

MS. GREER:  Four and a half, thank you.

So over the four-and-a-half years since you began consultation, there have been a number of judicial decisions that have affected the duty to consult in Canada.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's true.

MS. GREER:  Is that correct?  Would you say that NextBridge has had to take into consideration those court decisions in the way that consultation has moved forward?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  I mean, we -- NextBridge's role is as a project proponent.  So the duty to consult is that of the Crown.  However, communities have different expectations.  After Chilcotin decision, and Daniels case, et cetera, where communities, or -- and the new government's -- under the U.N.'s Indigenous proposal and that Canada was going to adopt it.  So a lot of communities wanted to be much more involved in the project than I would have, as these judicial decisions were made.

MS. GREER:  So is it fair to say that NextBridge views the duty to consult as being fluid?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.

MS. GREER:  And is it also fair to say that the costs associated with consultation are also fluid?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely, yes, I would believe that.

I think also, as the project marches on, I think a lot of communities, for example change chiefs.  So in First Nations, every two years.  In some cases, there is a change of leadership or a change of council.

And so again, NextBridge has to stay on top of making sure that we have constant contact with communities as their leadership changes to ensure that we're meeting the expectations of the chief, council and community.

MS. GREER:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Greer.
Procedural Matters:


Now, I am told by Board Staff that there is no other parties that are prepared to proceed today.  Is that accurate?  Yes?

Okay, because we are able to sit for longer, but I guess if no one is prepared to go.

I would also like to talk about the schedule tomorrow.  I understand, Ms. Cooper and Mr. Warren, that you want to proceed together doing your cross-examination, is that fair?

MR. WARREN:  We do, Madam Chair.  There isn't, for purposes of cross-examination, a clear bright line between EA issues and the issues that I would cover off.  So I really need Ms. Cooper in the room.

I raised this issue with Mr. Murray to see if there are others who could precede me tomorrow, and I don't know whether there are a number that can.  But it is a material impairment to us if we can't -- if I can't have Ms. Cooper in the room with me.

MS. LONG:  I am not going to force you on if you think it will affect your cross-examination, so we will look for the two of you to proceed then on Thursday?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  So I am looking for volunteers to proceed tomorrow.  I have Anwaatin, BZA, and then Batchewana.  So we have an additional -- we are prepared to sit for three hours tomorrow and I only have an hour and 20 minutes of cross-examination scheduled.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am willing to go tomorrow, but I would ask for dispensation from the Board.  At the beginning of the hearing, the Chair asked that compendiums asked that be provided 24 hours in advance.  I am not in a position to do that.

So I am willing to go tomorrow, but I wouldn't be able -- I would be willing to go first thing tomorrow, just because I am also unavailable for part of the day.  I can go first, but I wouldn't be able to provide a compendium until tomorrow morning.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So you are not available toward the end of the morning, do I understand it?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.

MS. LONG:  Because I was going to offer that if you didn't want to complete your cross tomorrow, that we wouldn't make you.  We would give you some time after.  But if you are going to go first, then it is probably best if you do it all together.

What is going to be in the compendium -- I don't want to disadvantage the witnesses either.  Is it all things that have been prepared beforehand?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is all material that's been provided beforehand, with the exception of two documents that were included in the Hydro One Networks compendium that I also provided to my friends, which will now be over a week ago.  The same comparison table that I provided Hydro One that I have also provided last Monday to NextBridge.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So I look to counsel here.  Do you think that will disadvantage your witnesses if you don't have a compendium?  If you have had the material and -- I'm sorry, Mr. Cass, that your witnesses have had it -- I look to you and Mr. Murphy as to whether or not you think that will disadvantage your witnesses.  I would like to push ahead, but I want to be fair to your witnesses and if they have not seen it and you have not seen it --


MR. MURPHY:  You told us about the table.  What is the other document?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was another table.

MR. MURPHY:  Two tables?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that were provided.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think it can be managed.  This is new to me.  I was not realizing this was going to happen.  So I don't have any information directly from the witnesses, but I think it can be managed.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The other thing is I did, recognizing that the Panel had spoken about not wanting undertakings, I provided my friends on Friday with some questions in advance that I may require some numbers.  I just don't know, considering they thought I was up later in the week, if they had --


MS. LONG:  Is that your concern, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Again, I just have not spoken with the witnesses about this because I didn't know this was coming up.  So my only concern is that speaking for them, could we perhaps ask them if they have any discomfort?

MS. LONG:  If you want to take five minutes and caucus and see, and we will come back and perhaps Staff can talk to everyone and see if we can't work this out.

Anwaatin is not here.  So I don't know -- if they're planning on going first, they would need to move so Mr. Rubenstein could go first to accommodate him.

So why don't we give you five minutes.  We will come back.  Knock on our door when you have sorted it out.
--- Recess taken at 4:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:23 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

All right.  Mr. Cass, Mr. Murphy, you've had an opportunity to speak to the witnesses?

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you for that opportunity, Madam Chair, and, yes, that will work for tomorrow morning.

MS. LONG:  That will work?

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So then tomorrow morning we will begin with Mr. Rubenstein, and then we will have Anwaatin, BZA, and Batchewana, and then on Thursday we will start with Hydro One, and both of you will do your cross together, and you have three hours allotted for that, and then we will continue with the Power Workers' Union, VECC, and CCC.

Okay?  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein, for offering to go tomorrow.  We appreciate that.  And we are adjourned for today, and we will be back tomorrow morning.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:24 p.m.
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